COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between

CANADIAN NORTHERN SHIELD

(hereinafter referred to as the "Employer")



And



(Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) (hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preamble Term of Agreement Article o – Agreement

0.01	Date of Effect	1
0.02	Retro-Activity	
0.03	Section 50 Exclusion	1
0.04	Bargaining Procedures	1
0.05	Notice to Bargain	1
0.0Č	Pre-bargaining Meeting	
0.07	Continuation Clause	2
0.08	Strikes and Lockouts	
0.09	Scope of Agreement	
0.10	Gender and Plural Usage	2
0.11	Interpretation of Time Period Terminology	
0.12	Management Rights	
0.13	Company Policies	
•	L /	

Article 1 - Union Security

1.01	Agreement Application	3
1.02	Application and Maintenance of Membership	3
1.03	New Employees	
1.04	Assignments of Wages and Employee Information	3
1.05	Company Financial Obligations	
1.06	Prohibited Grounds of Discrimination	
1.07	No Discrimination for Union Activity	
1.08	Bargaining Unit Work	
1.09	Contracting Out	
1.10	Contracting In	5

Article 2 - Union Recognition

2.01	Recognition of Union Executive Board Members, Councilors, Job Stewards and Business Representatives
2.02	Rights of Job Stewards
2.03	Paid and Unpaid Leave for Job Stewards and Union Officers
2.04	Leave of Absence for Employees - Elected or Appointed to Full
-	Time Union Positions
2.05	Communications - Union Bulletin Boards and Electronic Systems9
2.06	Cooperation with Union Officers
2.07	Union Use of Office Space
2.08	New Employee Union Orientation
2.09	Union Meetings
2.10	Copies of the Collective Agreement
2.11	Union Insignia 10
2.12	Union Shop Plaques 10
2.13	Right to Have a Job Steward Present 10

Article 3 - Grievance Procedure

3.01	Grievance Defined	. 11
3.02	Union or Company Grievance	
3.03	Discipline, Termination, Suspension Grievance	. 11
3.04	Job Selection Grievance	
3.05	Job Classification Disputes	.11
3.06	General Grievance Procedure	12
3.07	Arbitration	13
3.08	Grievor's Right to Attend Grievance Meeting	
3.09	Amending Time Limits	
3.10	Stage III Initiation	
0		

Article 4 - Seniority

4.01	Seniority Defined	14
4.02	Date of Hire Prior to Agreement	14
4.03	Probationary Employee	
4.04	Seniority Lists Provided	
4.05	Loss of Seniority	
4.06	Seniority Accrual on Recall List	
4.07	Seniority for Part-time Employees	
4.08	Seniority Accrual While on Leave	.15
4.09	Return to Bargaining Unit	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Article 5 - Employment, Discharge, and Termination

s 16

Article 6 - Employment Definitions and Benefits

6.01	Probationary Employees	19
6.02	Full-time Regular Employees	19
6.03	Part-time Regular Employees	20
6.04	Full-time Temporary Employees	21
	Part-time Temporary Employees	

Article 7 - Job Postings and Competitions

7.01	Job Postings	24
7.02	Appointments to Jobs	26
7.03	Preference in Appointments	
7.04	Job Selection Criteria	
7.05	Job Selection Disputes	
7.06	Limited Postings and Standing Applications	. 27
7.07	Agreed Trainee Jobs	
//		

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Canadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 - September 30, 2021

7.08	Lateral Transfers	28
7.09	Lateral Exchange of Employees	29
7.10	Hiring from Outside Company	29

Article 8 - Layoff and Recall

8.01	Requirement to Meet with Union and Pre-Layoff Canvas	30
8.02	Vacancy Rights	30
8.03	Bumping Rights	
8.04	Written notice	32
8.05	Severance Pay	
8.06	Severance Repayment on Recall	
8.07	Salary on Transfer to Lower Level Jobs	
8.08	Reinstatement Within One Year	
8.09	Recall List and Procedure	33
8.10	Copies of Recall List and Notice of Recall	
-		

Article 9 - Technological and Procedural Change

 9.01 Notice to the Union of Change 9.02 Attrition First	35
9.03 Displacement of Employees with Less than 5 Years Seniority	
	35
9.04 Displacement of Employees with More than 5 Years Seniority	36
9.05 Salary Protection (hired after February 4, 1985)	
9.06 Salary Protection (hired prior to February 4, 1985)	
9.07 Red Circle Continued	
9.08 Placement of Red Circle Employee in Higher Level Position	
9.09 Special Severance	

Article 10 - Job Classifications - Descriptions - Evaluations

10.01	Job Classifications	39
10,02	Job Classifications Salary Assignment	39
10.03		39
10.04	Updating Appendix "A"	39
10.05	Minor Duties	39
10.06	Consultation with Affected Employee(s)	39
10.07	Job Description Changes	40
10.08	Work in Lower Pay Classification	40
10.09	Work in Higher Pay Classification	40
10.10		40
1 0.1 1	Job Evaluation Appeal Procedures	41
10.12		
10.13	Annual Review	

Article 11 - Salary Administration

11.01	Pay According to Job Classification and Salary Group	42
11,02	Bi-Weekly Pay and Calculation	42
	Hourly Rate Calculation	
	Minimum Rate	
	Rate Upon Hiring	
11.06	Length of Service Increases	42

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Canadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 - September 30, 2021

11.07	Withholding and Reinstating Length of Service Increases	43
11.08	Rate of Pay Upon Promotion	43
11.09	Pay on Performing Higher Graded Job Duties	43
11,10	Pay on Transfer to a Lower Level Job Due to Inadequate Performance.	44
11.11		44
11.12	Transfers Due to Technological Procedural Changes or Layoff	44
11.13	Pay on Temporary Performance of Lower Graded Work	44
11.14	Pay for Acting Capacity	44
11.15	Length of Service Increase While in Acting Capacity	45
11.16	Notification and Limitations	45
11.17	Pay on Reclassification and Effect on Length of Service Date	45
11.18	Application of Wage Increases to Red Circle Salaries	45
11.19		46
11.20	General Salary Increases	46

Article 12 - Hours of Work

12.01	Variable Hours
12,02	Scheduled T.O. Provisions
12.03	Variations to Hours of Work
	Rest Periods

Article 13 - Overtime, Call-Outs, Stand-By, and Meal Allowances

13.01	Equitable Distribution of Overtime	49
13.02	Notification of Overtime	49
	Overtime Rates Calculation and Minimum.	
13.04	Overtime Rates	50
13.05	Overtime Call-out	50
	Minimum Rest Period, Call-Outs	
13.07	Meal Allowances	.51
	Banking Overtime	
	Telephone Consultation Agreement	
13.10	Tari Allowance	52
-0		

Article 14 - Annual Vacations

14,01	Vacation	53
14.02	Minimum 3 Months Before Vacation	53
		54
14.04		54
		54
		55
		55
		55
		55
• •		56
14.11		56
14.12		56
14.13		56
		50

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Canadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 – September 30, 2021

Article 15 - Statutory Holidays

15.01	Paid Holidays	57
	Date of Observance.	
	Holiday Pay	
15.04	Holiday Falling on Employee's Vacation	57
	Notice of Work on a Paid Holiday	
	Holiday Pay for Temporary and Part-time Regular Employees	
	Holiday Pay During Acting Appointment	
		-

Article 16 - Paid Sick Leave

16.01	Purpose	59
16.02		59
16.03	Full-time Temporary Employees	59
16.04		60
16.05		60
		60
16.07	Full Pay Entitlement Definition	61
16.08	Termination Limited During Sick Leave	61
	No Reduction of Other Disability Benefits	
16.10	Worksafe BC Benefits Augmented	
16.11		62
16.12		62
16.13		63
16.14		63

Article 17 – Welfare Benefit Plans

17.01	Health Care	64
17.01a	Medical and Extended Health Benefits	64
17.01b	Dental Plan	64
17.02	Life Insurance	64
17.03	Coverage While on Leave Without Pay	64
17.04	Leave with Pay	64
	Coverage During Labour Dispute	
17.06	No Coverage While on Layoff	65
17.07	Long Term Disability Plan	65
17.08	Travel Accident Insurance	65
17.09	Annual Benefit Statement	65
17.10	Pension Committee	66

Article 18 - Leave of Absence

18.01	Compassionate Leave (Bereavement)	67
18.02	Special Leave	67
	Court Leave	
	Examination Leave	•
	Pregnancy, Parental and Adoption Leave	
	Public Office	
	Leave Without Pay Entitlement	
	General Leave Without Pay	
	Military Leave	
	Education Leave	-
10110		

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Canadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 - September 30, 2021

18,11	Family Care Leave
18.12	Critical Care or Elder Care Leave
18.13	Domestic Violence Leave
	Gender Transition Leave

Article 19 - Moving, Travelling, Special Entitlements

19.01	Headquarters	73
19.02	General Provisions, Transportation and Travel Time	73
19.03	Commercial Travel	74
19.04	Travel-Involving No Change in Lodging	74
19.05	Personal Vehicles	
	Expense Claims	
	Monetary Advances	
19.08	Moving Expenses	75
	Moving Expense Definitions	-
	Limited Moving Parpenses	
19.11		79
19.12	Travelling Less Than 15 Minutes.	•••
19.13		79
, -0		

Article 20 - Training and Development

20.01	Purpose	Bo
		Bo
	Financial Aid, Training Courses	Bo
	Insurance Institute Education	
	Underwriter Trainces	
	Cooperative Education, General Insurance Diploma	
Articl	e 21 - Clothing Allowance	85
Articl	Article 22 - Strikes and Lochouts	
Articl	Article 23 - Savings Clause	

Article 24 - Labour Relations Charter

24.01	Labour Relations Charter
24.02	Issues Identification and Resolution - Labour Relations Forum
24.03	Principles and Guidelines

Article 25 - Health and Safety

25.01	Joint Occupational Health, Safety and Environment Committee	.88
25.02	Statutory Health and Safety Compliance	.88
25.03	Unsafe Work Conditions	.88
	Investigation of Accidents	
	Repetitive Strain Injuries	
	Stretch Breaks	
	Alternative Placement of Pregnant Employees	
	VDT Safety Standards	
L 0.00		.20

Article 26 - Job Sharing (Article Deleted March 2018)			
Article 27 - Respectful Workplace			
27.01 Definitions			
Article 28 - Phased in Retirement			
28.01 Eligibility			
Appendix "A" – Job Classifications			
Appendix "B" – Salary Ranges			
Letter of Understanding No. 1 - Career Progression			
Letter of Understanding No. 2 - Workload and Backlog104			
Letter of Understanding No. 3 - Remote Work			
Letter of Understanding No. 4 - Employment of Student Hires 107			
Letter of Understanding No. 5 – Incentive Compensation (Incentive Compensation Plan)			
Letter of Understanding No. 6 - Time Off Article 12.02(c)			

Captions and Headings

The captions, headings, and table of contents of this collective agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be used in interpreting the provisions of the agreement.

AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made the 22nd day of March 2011

BETWEEN: CANADIAN NORTHERN SHIRLD INSURANCE COMPANY (herein after called the "Company")

AND: <u>MoveUP(CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES</u> UNION, LOCAL 378) (herein after called the "Union")

WITNESSETH, that the parties hereto have mutually agreed as follows:

0.01 Date of Effect

The following provisions shall take effect and be binding upon the Company and the Union for a period commencing the first (1st) day of October, <u>2017</u>, and ending the thirtieth (30th) day of September, <u>2021</u>, SAVE and EXCEPT as may be expressly required herein or as may be required from time to time by the statutes of British Columbia.

0.02 Retro-Activity

Except as otherwise indicated, the following provisions of this agreement shall come into force and effect on and shall be fully retroactive to and including the date of <u>ratification</u> of this Collective Agreement <u>March 29, 2018</u>.

Retroactive adjustments for the period between the expiration of the previous agreement and the date of the signing of this agreement shall apply to:

- a) Employees who are in the employ of the Employer on the date of this agreement; and
- b) Employees whose employment with the Employer terminated during the abovementioned period.

0.03 Section 50 Exclusion

The parties hereto agree to the exclusion of the operation of Section 50, subsection (2) of the Labour Code of British Columbia (in accordance with Section 50 (3) thereof).

0.04 Bargaining Procedures

It is the intent of the parties to discuss the issues during the life of the agreement, and in collective bargaining, in a problem-solving atmosphere based on the concept of principled bargaining.

0.05 Notice to Bargain

Either party may at any time within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiry date of this agreement, give to the other party written notice of its intention to re-open or amend this agreement on its expiry date or on any day thereafter. The parties shall exchange particulars of desired changes to the agreement not later than the date of the first meeting of negotiations.

0.06 Pre-Bargaining Meeting

Prior to the commencement of collective bargaining, the parties shall meet to preview matters of concern, and to develop plans and procedures to optimize the effectiveness of direct collective bargaining in bringing about an agreement.

0.07 Continuation Clause

After the expiry date of this agreement and until a revised agreement is signed, this agreement and all its provisions shall remain in full force and effect without prejudicing the position of the revised agreement in making any matter retro-active in such revised agreement.

0.08 Strikes and Lockouts

Notwithstanding paragraphs 3 and 5, it is agreed that the employees may strike, and the Company may lock out after this agreement's expiry date.

0.09 Scope of Agreement

Letters or Memoranda of Understanding, which may be agreed between the parties from time to time during the life of this agreement, shall be attached hereto when so intended by the parties and shall have full effect as part(s) of this agreement. Such Letters or Memoranda shall carry the signatures of authorized Union and Company Officers or Representatives and the date the originally executed document was signed. Where no terminating date is specified within the context, the Letters or Memoranda shall continue in effect from year to year in the same manner as the body of the Agreement or until terminated by agreement of the parties.

0.10 Interpretation of Time Period Terminology

Reference to weeks, months or years shall mean calendar weeks, months, or years, unless otherwise stated in the context. References to "days" means working days unless otherwise stated in the context.

0.11 Management Rights

All management rights heretofore exercised by the Company, unless expressly limited by this agreement, are reserved to and are vested exclusively in the Company.

0.12 Company Policies

The Company agrees to advise the Union in writing of all policy and procedure instructions relating to matters covered by this agreement. The Company will not issue any policy and procedure instructions, which are contrary to the terms and conditions of this agreement, and it is recognized that all such policy and procedure instructions may be the subject of grievance pursuant to Article III of this agreement.

0.13 Incorporated Documents

All Memoranda or Letters of Understanding and Appendices attached to this Agreement shall be deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement as if set forth in full herein in writing and shall so apply.

ARTICLE 1

UNION SECURITY

1.01 Agreement Application

This agreement shall apply to and be binding upon all employees of the Company described in a Certificate issued to the Union by the Labour Relations Board on the 1st day of February 1985 and shall continue to apply to the said Certificate as the same may be amended by the Labour Relations Board of British Columbia from time to time.

1.02 Application and Maintenance of Membership

The Company agrees that all employees covered by this agreement within fifteen (15) calendar days of the signing of this agreement, or within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of employment with the Company, whichever event shall later occur, as a condition of continued employment with the Company shall make application to become members of the Union and if accepted, remain members of the Union.

1.03 Acquainting New Employees

The Company will inform new employees of their Union membership obligations. The Company will provide Union membership cards and dues deduction forms to new employees for their completion and signing at the time of employee documentation. The Company will forward the executed documents to the Union as soon as possible, but in any event, within fifteen (15) calendar days of the employee's date of hire. Such forms will be provided to the Company by the Union.

The Company will provide the employee with a list of Job Stewards.

1.04 Assignments of Wages and Employee Information

The Company will honour written assignments of wages for Union dues, initiation fees and general membership assessments and shall remit such to the Union monthly together with the following information as to the persons from whose pay such deductions have been made:

- a) employee ID number
- date of hire
- name home address <u>c)</u>
- d)
- e) monthly salary
- amount of dues deducted
- g) i) iob classification
 - Union seniority date (if different from date of hire)

b)

Ð home telephone number, except where employees have expressly indicated to the Employer that their number is unlisted

In addition to the above the Company will provide the Union monthly with a list of:

- new hires i)
- ii) employees on extended leave of absence
- acting pay appointments iii)

- work location and telephone number
- Ð
 - **h**)
- employee status

The following information will be provided to the Union upon request, but not more than six (6) times per year:

- i) terminations
- ii) promotions
- iii) demotions
- iv) lateral moves between budget centres
- v) salary revisions
- vi) address and name changes

Such information shall be supplied by the Company and in a form mutually acceptable to the parties.

1.05 Company Financial Obligations

Notwithstanding any provision in this Article, there shall be no financial responsibility on the part of the Company for fees, dues, or general membership assessments of an employee unless there are sufficient unpaid wages of that employee in the Company's possession except that this provision shall not absolve the Company of its financial obligations in those circumstances where it knowingly failed to withhold sufficient employees' pay to pay the monies outstanding to the Union.

1.06 Prohibited Grounds of Discrimination

- a) Neither the Union nor the Company, in carrying out its obligations under this agreement, will discriminate in matters of hiring, training, promotion, transfer, layoff, discharge, or otherwise because of race, ancestry, colour, place of origin, place of residence, age, sex, marital status, family status, number of dependents, pregnancy or childbirth, sexual orientation, physical or mental disability, ethnic origin, conviction of a criminal or summary offence that is unrelated to the employment or to the intended employment of that person or for which a pardon has been granted, political beliefs or affiliation, religious belief or affiliation, or citizenship provided the employee has the legal right to be employed at the Company's place of business.
- b) Paragraph (a) does not apply with respect to a refusal, limitation, specification or preference based on a bona fide occupational requirement.
- c) Notwithstanding the above, the Parties hereto subscribe to the principles of the Human Rights Code of British Columbia.
- d) This Article does not preclude an employee from making a complaint under the BC Human Rights Code, but an employee shall not be entitled to duplication of process and must choose between complaint under the Code or the grievance procedure.

1.07 No Discrimination for Union Activity

The Company agrees that there shall be no discrimination or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any employee by reason of membership or activity in the Union.

1.08 Bargaining Unit Work

Duties normally performed by employees within the bargaining unit will not be assigned to or be performed by non-bargaining unit personnel (i.e., managers and excluded employees of the Company) except in emergencies when bargaining unit employees are not available or are unable to perform the work required or where the Company experiences an unexpected surge in business transactions associated with a catastrophe.

1.09 Contracting Out

- a) The Company will not contract out work normally performed by bargaining unit employees which will result in any lay-off or downgrading of such employees.
- b) The Company shall not contract out bargaining unit work where it would undermine the integrity of the bargaining unit.
- c) It is recognized by the parties to this agreement that company operations require the utilization of consultants from time to time to perform specialized tasks and to work on projects requiring special expertise.
- d) Whenever the Company becomes engaged in tasks or projects that require special expertise, the Company will make every reasonable effort to locate qualified bargaining unit employees and release them from all or part of their normal duties to perform the work in question. This paragraph does not require the Company to allow an employee to work overtime on <u>their</u> own job which is not otherwise necessary or to transport an employee unreasonable distances to work on the task or project.
- e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may use a consultant when:
 - i) it is necessary to respond to an emergency or an urgent customer service situation including, without limitation, a situation which is urgent in the opinion of the customer or broker, provided the situation is one over which the Company has no control; or
 - ii) it is specified by a broker as a condition of entering into, renewing, or continuing a policy or group program.
- f) After the Company uses consultants, it will notify the Union and, upon request, will provide the Union with its reasons for doing so. This paragraph does not apply to the use of independent adjusters or loss control services.

1.10 Contracting In

The Company shall not be permitted to use temporary workers employed by a third party agency or otherwise contract-in <u>non-bargaining</u> unit workers (together, "Inside Contractors") to perform work normally performed by bargaining unit employees, except in circumstances consistent with the following.

a) Inside Contractors may be hired in connection with specific temporary needs, for a duration of six(6) months or less, in circumstances where the Company can reasonably establish that the position cannot be fille in a reasonably timely manner by a regular or temporary bargaining unit employee. An inside Contractor's engagement may be extended beyond six (6) months by mutual agreement of the Company and the Union.

- b) Inside Contractors will be paid not less than the applicable rate for position filled, as established under Article 11.
- c) In connection with the use of Inside Contractors, the Company shall provide a report to the Union which will include the following information for each Inside Contractor engaged during the reporting period:
 - i, name of the Inside Contractor;
 - <u>ii.</u> position filled;
 - iii. start date of each assignment'
 - iv. end date of each assignment' and
 - v. rate of pay.
- d) In connection with the use of Inside Contractors in Corporate Services, the Company shall provide a payment to the Union, on a quarterly basis, in the amount of 1.5% of the gross wages paid to each Inside Contractor each month.
- e) Except as otherwise provided in this article, the Collective Agreement shall not apply to Inside Contractors.
- f) The Company and the Union agree to cooperate in preventing the improper utilization of Inside Contractors.
- g) This subsection does not apply to the Company's utilization of consultants in accordance with Article 1.09. Further, this subsection does not apply to the Company's utilization of third-party contractors to provide independent adjusting or appraising services.

ARTICLE 2

UNION RECOGNITION

2.01 Recognition of Union Executive Board Members, Councillors, Job Stewards and Business Representatives

The Company will recognize individuals and/or employees elected, appointed, and/or designated by the Union as its qualified Officers, Councillors, Job Stewards and/or Representatives. The Union will notify the Company in writing as to who are the elected or appointed Officers, Councillors, Job Stewards, and/or Representatives of the Union authorized by the Union to discuss and, wherever possible, resolve problems arising out of the Agreement.

2.02 Rights of Job Stewards

The rights of union Job Stewards shall include the following activities:

- a) Investigation of complaints, grievances, and/or disputes including the making of presentations to management as required.
- b) The transmission of Union bulletins and/or notices by posting or such other means as are reasonable under the circumstances.
- c) Participation in collective bargaining, and/or arbitration proceedings when directed by the Union.
- d) Participation in the administration of the Union as may be required for Union Intecutive meetings and Job Stewards meetings.

2.03 Paid and Unpaid Leave for Job Stewards and Union Officers

- a) Job Stewards can carry out their duties in Article 2.02 (a) and 2.02 (b) above without loss of pay during regular hours and it shall be considered as time worked. The time spent by Job Stewards beyond their regular hours will not be paid for by the Company. Before carrying out such duties during regular working hours, the Job Steward will first obtain permission from the Manager or <u>their</u> designate at <u>their</u> location. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld. It is agreed that Job Stewards will carry out their duties in such a manner as to cause a minimum of interference with normal job duties. (See Article 2.09).
- b) Job Stewards and/or affected Company employees can participate in arbitration hearings without loss of pay during regular hours and it shall be considered as time worked. The time spent beyond regular hours will not be paid for by the Company.
- c)
- i) Subject to maintenance of operations, Job Stewards and/or other elected Officers of the Union who regularly work for the Company and are required to participate in the Union Executive Meetings will be granted up to one day's leave with pay for each period of leave so required provided notice is given to the Company in accordance with Article 2.03(f). Time spent beyond regular hours and time spent beyond one working day will not be paid by the Company and will be considered leave of absence without pay.

- ii) Subject to maintenance of operations, Job Stewards and/or other elected Officers of the Union who regularly work for the Company, and who are elected or appointed to attend Union or Labour Conventions, will be granted leave of absence without pay to attend such conventions provided notice is given to the Company in accordance with Article 2.03(f). The Union agrees that remaining employees in a work area affected by the granting of leave under this provision will cooperate with the Company to minimize the effect of leave granted to Job Stewards and/or other elected Officers under this section.
- d) Job Stewards and/or elected Officers of the Union who regularly work for the Company and who are assigned to Joint Union-Company Committees, will be paid by the Company for all time spent on such committees during regular hours.
- e) Job Stewards and/or other elected Officers of the Union may receive leave of absence with or without pay at the discretion of and by prior arrangement with the Manager, Human Resources for other activities not specifically identified above. Such leave shall not be unreasonably denied.
- f) Requests for leave under 2.02(d), 2.03(c) and 2.03(e) must be submitted by the Union to the Company at least <u>fourteen (14)</u> days prior to commencement of the requested leave. <u>All requests for leave will not be unreasonably denied</u>.
- g) Notwithstanding the generality of any other provision in Article 2, the parties ageee as follows:
 - i) All requests for leave under Article 2 will include indication of the specific subsection of Article 2 which is applicable to the requested leave.
 - ii) Where a Job Steward or other elected Officer of the Union is granted leave without pay under Article 2, the Company shall continue the Job Steward/Officer's salary and full benefits, however in those instances where the Union is responsible for reimbursing the Company for all costs associated with such leaves, such reimbursement shall include the Job Steward/Officer's salary plus a loading factor of twenty-two percent (22%).
- 2.04 Leave of Absence for Employees Elected or Appointed to Full Time Union Positions

Employees elected or appointed to full time Union positions (excluding clerical staff) will be granted leave of absence without pay on request. Time spent with the Union will be considered as service with the Company and the employee will continue to accrue seniority with the Company during such period. Employees on such leave will at their option continue to participate in all welfare plans, provided the Union reimburses the Company on a monthly basis for the cost of such premiums. Employees on leave to work for the Union on application to the Company, will be re-employed by the Company at a job level equivalent to that which the employee left to work for the Union.

The salary of the employee on re-employment will be that salary which the employee would have attained in their classification assuming they had never left the employment of the Company.

2.05 Communications - Union Bulletin Boards and Electronic Systems

Bulletin Boards shall be made available to the Union at all locations of the Company for posting of appropriate notices relative to meetings and general Union activities. The Company will provide access to its mail distribution systems and fax machines for the distribution of such notices.

The Company agrees to allow the union office the anthority of using their email system to distribute Union approved materials. The Union agrees that their members will access this material during their coffee or lunch periods. The Union agrees that its members will not forward this material. If Union members distribute such material the union will ensure that the Company is held harmless and will defend and indemnify Canadian Northern Shield.

2.06 Cooperation with Union Officers

The Company will cooperate with Officers, Councillors, Job Stewards, Representatives and/or other Officials of the Union in carrying out their union responsibilities, including the granting of leave under Article 2.

The Union shall cooperate with the Company to ensure that no Officer, Councillor, Job Steward, Representative or other Official of the Union is absent from <u>their</u> normal job duties for an unreasonable amount of time.

Further, it is agreed that Union Officers will request leave and carry out their duties in such a manner which minimizes any interference with the performance of their normal job duties. The Union also agrees that remaining employees in a work area affected by the granting of leave under Article 2 will cooperate with the Company to minimize the effect of leave granted to Union Officers.

2.07 Union Use of Office Space

Job Stewards and/or Representatives of the Union who require private office space for the purpose of performing duties relative to 2.02(a) above, will receive such accommodation on request to the Manager of the Department or the Manager, Human Resources or designate.

2.08 New Employee Union Orientation

A new employee will be provided with a copy of the Collective Agreement, and will be introduced to <u>their</u> Job Steward as part of <u>their</u> orientation to the department. In addition, the Company agrees that a representative of the Union will be given an opportunity to address collectively, on a once per month basis (if required), all new bargaining unit employees to a department during regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a period of up to thirty (30) minutes. The purpose of the meeting is to acquaint new employees with the benefits and duties of Union membership and employees' responsibilities and obligations to the Company and the Union. The time and location of the meeting will be subject to approval by management.

2.09 Union Meetings

The Company where possible, will allow Union Representatives to conduct meetings after hours on Company premises, within the following conditions:

- a) The Union will provide the Company with as much advance notice as possible.
- b) The meeting(s) will be held in an area which will cause the least inconvenience to the cleaning services, e.g. Lunchrooms, or an open area.
- c) The Union will ensure that the premises are left in good order.
- d) Any meetings involving more than one floor area or department will be held off premises.

2.10 Copies of the Collective Agreement

The Company shall print an adequate number of copies of the Collective Agreement at a Unionized printing shop and the costs will be shared equally by the two parties. The Union shall distribute copies of the agreement to its members.

2.11 Union Insignia

A union member shall have the right to wear or display jewellery bearing the recognized insignia of the Union.

2.12 Union Shop Plaques

One (1) union shop plaque, furnished by the Union, will be displayed to public view at the public entrances to the Company premises. Such plaque will not exceed 6 inches by 8 inches in dimensions, and shall be surrendered by the Company upon demand by the Union.

2.13 Right to Have Job Steward Present

- a) An employee shall have the right to have a Job Steward present at any discussion with management personnel where the basis of the discussion is <u>placement in a</u> <u>performance improvement plan</u>, or at an investigative meeting which may <u>potentially result in</u> disciplinary action. Where a manager plans to meet with an employee with the specific intent to administer discipline, the manager shall notify the employee in advance of that meeting and of <u>their</u> right to have a Job Steward present at that meeting.
- b) An Employee shall have the right to refuse to participate or to continue to participate in any discussion with management personnel, where the basis of the discussion is disciplinary action, until a Job Steward can be present. An Employee who exercises this right of refusal shall not suffer any prejudice, penalty or discipline as a result.
- c) This clause does not apply to those discussions that are of an operational nature.

ARTICLE 3

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

3.01 Grievance Defined

"Grievance" means any difference or any dispute between the persons bound by the Agreement concerning the dismissal, discipline, or suspension of an employee; or concerning the application, interpretation, operation, or any alleged violation of this Agreement, or any other dispute including any questions as to whether the matter is arbitrable. All grievances will be resolved without stoppage of work by one of the following procedures.

3.02 Union or Company Grievance

Should either the Union or the Company consider that an action, or proposed action, is or will become a difference or dispute between the parties concerning the application, interpretation, operation or any <u>alleged</u> violation of this Agreement, or any questions as to whether the matter is arbitrable, then such will be considered a policy grievance and be dealt with as follows:

The Grieving party, i.e. the President of the Union or the Manager, Human Resources of the Company, or their nominee(s), shall initiate same by letter. Within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of such written notice, the principals or their nominees shall meet and attempt to resolve the grievance. Failing settlement, the matter may be referred by either party at its option to the agreed Third Party. If the grievance is not submitted to, or is not resolved by the Third Party, the grievance may be submitted to arbitration as set out in Article 3.07 below.

3.03 Discipline, Termination, Suspension Grievances

Grievances concerning termination or suspension of an employee may be submitted directly to Stage III of Article 3.06 at the option of the Grieving Party. Grievances concerning the discipline of an employee, other than termination or suspension, will follow all the stages of Article 3.06.

Should an Arbitrator, Labour Relations Board, or other body find that an employee has been dismissed, suspended or otherwise disciplined for other than proper cause, or find that an employee has been unjustly dismissed, suspended or otherwise disciplined for proper cause, the Arbitrator, the Labour Relations Board or other body may substitute such other penalty and/or order reinstatement and/or order compensation to the employee as it considers just and reasonable in all the circumstances.

3.04 Job Selection Grievances

Grievances concerning job selection shall be dealt with under Article 7, except that such disputes may be referred to arbitration as set out in Article 3.07 for final resolution.

3.05 Job Classification Disputes

Grievances and disputes concerning job classifications and pay grades shall be resolved under Article 10.

3.06 General Grievance Procedure

The parties to this agreement agree that it is important to resolve complaints and grievances as quickly as possible.

Stage I

Should a grievance occur, it shall be submitted by the employee, or the Job Steward on behalf of the employee, to the Manager, in writing with a copy to the Union and to the Manager, Human Resources, not later than fifteen (15) calendar days from the date the employee was advised of the event leading to the grievance.

Within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of such Stage I grievance, the Manager, or <u>their</u> designate, will discuss the grievance jointly with the Job Steward and employee. The Manager, or <u>their</u> designate, will render a decision in writing to the Job Steward with a copy to the employee, the Union and the Manager, Human Resources, within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of the discussion at Stage I.

Stage II

- a) Should a grievance be unresolved at Stage I, the Union may refer the matter to Stage II by writing the Manager, Human Resources, within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the Manager's decision at Stage I.
- b) Within twenty (20) calendar days of receipt of the Union's referral to Stage II, a member of the Union staff and the Manager, Human Resources, will meet and initiate a joint investigation in an effort to resolve the dispute. If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute the Union may refer the matter to Stage III within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date of the discussions at Stage II.

Stage III

A grievance referred by the Union to Stage III will be in writing to the Vice President (in the grievor's operational unit).

Within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the Union's referral to Stage III the Vice President (in the grievor's operational unit), or designate will discuss the grievance with representatives of the Union.

Within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of the discussion with the Union Representative(s), the Vice President (in the grievor's operational unit), or designate, will submit the Company's decision to the Union in writing.

Within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the Company's decision at Stage III, the Union may refer the grievance to arbitration as set out in Article 3.07.

3.07 Arbitration

- a) All grievances submitted to arbitration shall be adjudicated by a single arbitrator. Within seven (7) days of notice to arbitrate being served under Stage III above, or in accordance with other Articles of this Agreement, the parties will attempt to agree on an arbitrator. Should the parties fail to agree on an arbitrator during this period, either party may request the **Ministry** of Labour to make an appointment.
- b) The arbitrator shall proceed as soon as practical to examine the grievance and within thirty (30) calendar days render their judgment and decision which shall be final and binding on the parties and upon any employee affected by it.
- c) Each party to this Agreement will equally share the fee, expenses and disbursements of an arbitrator appointed under this Section.
- d) The arbitrator shall not be authorized to alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement.

3.08 Grievor's Right to Attend Grievance Meeting

The aggrieved employee may be present at any or all steps of the Grievance Procedure if the employee desires and costs and wages thereto will be borne by the Company.

3.09 Amending Time Limits

Time limits as set out in the preceding sections may be extended by mutual consent of the Company and the Union, but the same must be in writing.

3.10 Stage III Initiation

The processing of any grievance may begin with Stage III by mutual agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 4

SENIORITY

4.01 Seniority Defined

- a) Except as modified in this Agreement, seniority shall be determined as length of continuous service with the Company as a member in good standing of the Union.
- b) For those employees specifically named in the Consent Order, dated January 24, 1985, seniority shall be determined as length of continuous service with both I.C.B.C. and the Company as a member in good standing of the Union, provided, however, that they meet the requirements of Article 4.03, below.
- c) Unless an effective break in service occurs, a temporary employee who secures a regular position during the term of <u>their</u> temporary employment shall be credited with seniority back to the date last hired as a temporary employee.

4.02 Date of Hire Prior to Agreement

All employees of the Company as at the signing date of this Agreement shall be granted with seniority back to the date that they were last hired by the Company, provided, however, that they meet the requirements of Article 4.03 below.

4.03 Probationary Employees

New employees hired under the terms of this Agreement will be on probation for three (3) months or sixty (60) paid days of employment whichever shall last occur, and will not attain any seniority during this period. Upon completion of the probationary period, the employee will be credited with seniority back to the date of hire.

4.04 Seniority Lists Provided

The Company will provide the Union with a seniority list in July of each year, and at other dates as mutually agreed between the parties.

4.05 Loss of Seniority

Employees shall lose their seniority only if they:

- a) terminate employment with the Company.
- b) are discharged for just cause or terminated pursuant to proper application of this Agreement.
- c) are laid off for a period exceeding the specified recall period as described in Article 8.09 (a).
- d) accept, or transfer to, a permanent position within the Company which is outside of the bargaining unit.

Page 14

4.06 Seniority Accrual on Recall List

Employees laid off and placed on the recall list shall continue to accrue seniority during such period of layoff.

4.07 Seniority for Part-Time Employees

Part-Time employees shall be credited with seniority in direct relation to their hours worked.

4.08 Seniority Accrual While on Leave

Sick leave, vacation, or approved leave of absence will not constitute a break in seniority provided continuous membership is maintained in the Union except that seniority accrual will cease after:

- 1) An employee has been on extended leave of absence, without pay, excluding pregnancy or parental leave, for a period of four (4) continuous months; or
- 2) An employee has been receiving disability benefits for one (1) year, or for a period which is equal to <u>their</u> pre-disability service when it is greater than one (1) year to a maximum of two (2) years,

unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement.

4.09 Return to Bargaining Unit

The Company and the Union recognize that a former bargaining unit employee in a position which is excluded from the bargaining unit, may be required or desire to return to a position in the bargaining unit at a later date. Where this happens and when the period in the non-bargaining unit position is less than twelve (12) months, the Union will facilitate the individual's return to the bargaining unit by waiving a job posting on an available position as mutually agreed by the Union and the Company, and providing that such position shall not be in a higher pay grade than the last position which the employee held when previously a member of the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 5

EMPLOYMENT, DISCHARGE, AND TERMINATION

5.01 Notice of Appointment – New Employee

All new employees will receive a notice of appointment setting out the date of hire, job title, salary, and employment status in accordance with Articles 6.02 to 6.05 inclusive of this Agreement. If status is that of a Full or Part-time Temporary Employee, this notice shall also indicate the nature of the project and expected duration of employment.

5.02 Probationary Period for Employees

A new employee entering service in a job covered by this Agreement shall be considered probationary for a period of three (3) months or sixty (60) paid days of employment, whichever shall last occur, and may be terminated during this period with two (2) days notice or pay in lieu of notice. A new employee hired into a job listed in Appendix "C" of this Agreement or a job at Salary Group 6 and above shall be subject to a four (4) month job performance probation, and may be terminated in accordance with the foregoing as a result of inadequate performance. An employee who is subject to a four (4) month performance probation shall be eligible for benefits as described in Article 6 of this Agreement after completing three (3) months or sixty (60) paid days of employment, whichever shall last occur. Probationary periods as described above may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

A full-time temporary or part-time temporary employee entering a regular full-time or regular part-time position which is a different job title and classification from <u>their</u> previously held temporary position shall be subject to a three (3) months performance probation. Such an employee shall be eligible for welfare benefits in accordance with the conditions set out in Article 6.02 (b) of this Agreement. The employee may be terminated during this period as a result of inadequate performance and will receive:

- two (2) days notice or pay in lieu of notice if the employee has sixty (60) paid days or less of employment with the Company.
- ten (10) days notice or pay in lieu of notice if the employee has more than sixty (60) paid days of employment with the Company.

The probationary period described above may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

5.03 Performance Related Inadequacies and Performance Improvement Plans

A regular employee not covered by Article 6.01 may be placed on a special program to correct inadequate performance. Prior thereto the Company will provide a written notice to the employee with a copy to the Union outlining the inadequacies.

The employee will be given a period of up to three (3) months from the date of such notice during which the employee and the supervisor will endeavour to raise the employee's performance to an adequate level. This period will not be less than three (3) months unless otherwise agreed by the parties.

An employee who fails to improve <u>their</u> performance to an adequate level by the end of the above stated period may be terminated in accordance with Article 5.05.

(Reference to Articles 7.02 and 11.07)

5.04 Discipline and Dismissal

a) Just Cause

The Employer shall only discipline or dismiss an Employee for just cause. "Just cause" is defined for the operation of this Agreement as a serious breach of discipline or conduct. The burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Employer.

b) Progressive Discipline

Discipline must be applied uniformly, and disciplinary action taken by the Employer must be appropriate to the cause and to the principles of progressive discipline.

c) Timeliness

The discipline or dismissal of any Employee must be done by the Employer within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date that the Employer knew or ought reasonably to have known about the circumstance(s) involved. This time limit may be extended by mutual written agreement of the Parties.

d) Dismissal

Employees may be dismissed for just cause without notice. At the time of such dismissal, the Company shall give the employee a full written statement of the reasons for such dismissal, and a copy of this written statement will be forwarded to the Union.

e) <u>Electronic Copies</u>

The Employer will provide the Union with an electronic copy of any disciplinary document as soon as reasonably possible after it is issued to an Employee.

5.05 Notice of Termination

Employees who have completed their probationary period under 5.02 above, and who are terminated for reasons other than just cause, shall receive a minimum of ten (10) working days notice, or pay in lieu of notice, unless otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement. Copies of all termination or discharge notices will be provided to the Union at the same time as they are issued. Unless agreed with the Union, no employee who has completed their probationary period as described in Article 6.01 (a) will be terminated during absence due to illness (except as provided for in Article 16.08) authorized leave of absence of any kind, or while under the provisions of a long term disability program.

5.06 Recall Period Expiry

Employees on lay-off in accordance with the provisions of Article 8, who are not recalled during the recall period, will be deemed terminated.

5.07 Access to Personnel File

It is agreed that personnel files of the employee will be fully available to the employee within three (3) consecutive days or within such longer period as may be reasonable due to postal service.

5.08 Removal of Adverse Reports from Personnel Files

- a) The Company agrees to remove from an employee's personnel file any adverse report, which is of a punitive nature after one (1) year provided no further such reports have been issued within that period.
- b) The Company agrees to remove from an employee's personnel file any reference to a special program to correct inadequate performance – pursuant to Section 5.03 of this Agreement – after a period of two (2) years provided the employee was successful in meeting an acceptable level of performance in the applicable job and has maintained an acceptable level of performance throughout the two (2) year period.

ARTICLE 6

EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS AND BENEFITS

Except as specifically limited in this Article, or as limited elsewhere in this Agreement, all employees shall receive all of the benefits and provisions of this Agreement.

6.01

a) Probationary Employees - Definition

All employees entering service with the Company except as defined in 6.05, shall be considered probationary for a period of three (3) months or sixty (60) paid days of employment, whichever shall last occur and during such probationary period the following shall apply:

b) Probationary Employees - Benefit Limitations

A probationary employee

- i) in accordance with Article 4.03, shall not attain seniority until completion of the probationary period.
- ii) may be terminated with two (2) days' notice or pay in lieu of notice and will not be considered laid off or have any rights of recall.
- iii) shall not be entitled to benefits under Technological or Procedural Change.
- iv) shall not be eligible to apply for other positions within the <u>bargaining</u> unit unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties. However, temporary employees interested in regular employment may apply for a regular position and be treated as a new job applicant.

6.02

a) Full-Time Regular Employees - Definition

A full-time regular employee is one hired to fill an ongoing position vacated by a regular employee or to fill a new position or additional position which is of a continuing nature.

b) Full-Time Regular Employees - Benefit Limitations

Full-time regular employees shall be entitled to all benefits of this Agreement except as limited during the probationary period. During the probationary period full-time regular employees shall not be eligible for coverage under the Dental Plan and the Long Term Disability Plan, but shall receive coverage under the B.C. Medical Plan, the Extended Health Benefits Plan, and the Group Insurance Plan.

Upon completion of the probationary period, a full-time regular employee will be credited with service back to the date of hire for purpose of determining all benefits under this Agreement.

Except as provided for in 6.04 (a) (ii), by agreement with the Union the Company may hire a temporary employee to fill a full-time regular position as defined above.

A full-time temporary employee who is successful in securing a regular position while a temporary employee shall have the term of employment since their last date of hire as a temporary employee applied towards the waiting periods for all welfare benefit plans. Those who have served the required waiting periods will be immediately eligible for coverage under those welfare benefit plans provided to full-time regular employees.

6.03

a) Part-Time Regular Employees - Definition

A part-time regular employee is one hired to fill a part-time ongoing position vacated by a part-time regular employee or to fill a new part-time position which is of a continuing part-time nature. Except as may be varied below, a part-time regular employee will work according to a regular part-time schedule, but unless agreed with the Union, will not work more than seventy-five percent (75%) of the normal monthly hours as established in Article 12. Employees who work more than seventy-five percent (75%) of the normal monthly hours shall be considered as full-time regular employees and will receive all benefits thereto. By agreement with the part-time employee and the Company, the former can relieve a full-time regular employee who is on authorized leave of absence, sick leave, or annual vacation, without a change in status to full-time regular and without such time being calculated in determining the seventy-five percent (75%) of normal monthly hours. A part-time regular employee's schedule may be varied by agreement with the employee.

b) Part-Time Regular Employees - Benefit Limitations

- i) will conclude their probationary periods after having worked the equivalent hours as described for the probationary period.
- ii) will be credited with seniority and service back to date of hire upon completion of the probationary period, and such credit during that period and henceforth shall be in accordance with the hours worked for the Company provided the employee retains membership in the Union for that period.
- iii) Will be laid off in accordance with their seniority within their department, and will only be eligible for recall to a part-time or temporary position within that department. No part-time regular employee will exercise bumping or recall rights over a full-time regular employee.
- iv) Will not have any rights under Technological or Procedural Change.
- v) Will not be entitled to coverage under the Dental Plan, Long Term Disability Plan, Group Life Insurance Plan, B.C. Medical Services Plan, or Extended Health Benefits Plan. In lieu thereof, part-time regular employees will be paid at the rate of 108% of the rate they would have otherwise attained.
- vi) Will be entitled to receive sick leave on a pro rata basis to cover scheduled days of work.
- vii) Will be remunerated bi-weekly for vacations and holidays at the rate of 10.4% of gross earnings during each calendar year. The above compensation represents the part-time employee's total claim for vacation and statutory holiday pay.

- viii) May be terminated in accordance with this Agreement, except that pay in lieu of any notice shall be calculated on the basis of scheduled working days or hours within the period of required notice. Any severance pay which may be due as a result of action taken under Article 8 will be calculated on a pro rata basis in relation to the time worked.
- ix) Will receive salary step increases in accordance with their accumulated service.
- x) Part-time regular employees will have the right to apply for full-time regular positions within the Company after the completion of their probationary period but seniority shall be determined under (ii) above.
- xi) Will have their salaries calculated by multiplying their appropriate hourly rate times the hours worked.

6.04

a) Full-Time Temporary Employees - Definition

Full-time temporary employees may be hired without job posting under the following conditions provided they are paid not less than the rate for a full daily shift for each day worked and are working a normal work week schedule as established under Article 12. It is the intent that the Company will give consideration to the appointment of regular employees to acting positions wherever practical in advance of hiring temporary employees.

- i) Full-time temporary employees may be hired in connection with specific temporary projects or temporary variations in work where such project or variation is for six (6) months or less. A full time temporary employee's employment may be extended beyond six (6) months by mutual agreement of the Company and the Union. Where such extension is initiated at the Company's request, benefits shall be as set out in Article 6.04 (c).
- ii) Full-time temporary employees may be hired for employee replacement during vacations, sick leave, leave of absence and to fill vacancies temporarily while jobs are being posted and filled.
- iii) Full time temporary employees hired to cover for existing employees on LTD will not be considered to be entitled to severance payment unless their employment is extended past one year.
- iv) Full time temporary employees hired to cover for existing employees on pregnancy or parental leave will not be considered to be entitled to severance pay unless their employment is extended beyond the initial pregnancy or parental leave period.

The Company and the Union agree to cooperate in preventing the improper utilization of temporary employees.

b) Full-Time Temporary Employees - Benefit Limitations

Full-time temporary employees shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Agreement, except that full-time temporary employees:

i) will be governed by Article 6.01 during their probationary period.

- ii) will not have any rights under the notice, severance, layoff and recall provisions of Article 8. However, the Company will advise such employees of a pending layoff as early as possible.
- iii) Will not have any rights under Technological and Procedural Change.
- iv) Will receive pay for annual vacations and statutory holiday's bi-weekly.
- v) Will not be entitled to coverage under the Dental Plan, Long Term Disability Plan, Group Life Insurance Plan, B.C. Medical Services Plan, or Extended Health Benefits Plan. In lieu thereof, full-time temporary employees will be paid at the rate of 108% of the rate they would have otherwise attained.
- vi) Will be entitled to benefits under the Short Term Disability Plan upon the completion of <u>their</u> probationary period in accordance with Article 16.03.
- vii) Can apply for other bargaining unit positions and be accepted for same after completion of the probationary period except that in such instances the full-time temporary employee may be retained by the Company in their original position until their temporary assignment is concluded.

c) Full-Time Temporary Employees Extended at the Company's Request Benefits

Full-time temporary employees whose employment is extended beyond six (6) months at the Company's request with the mutual agreement of the Company and the Union shall be entitled to the following benefits:

- i) salary administration under all the provisions of Article 11;
- ii) equivalent time off for vacations as a full-time regular employee would be entitled. Scheduling of such time off is subject to departmental requirements. There would be no additional compensation for this time off because temporary employees are paid vacation pay on each pay cheque.
- iii) sick leave entitlement as specified in Article 16.05 for regular employees.
- iv) Compassionate leave, special leave, court leave, and examination leave, as specified in Articles 18.01 to 18.04 inclusive.
- v) Training and development as specified in Article 20.

6.05

a) Part-time Temporary Employees - Definition

A part-time temporary employee(s) will work less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the regularly scheduled hours per day and/or week and/or per month as set out in Article 12 and such work will be in connection with a specific part-time temporary project which will be for six (6) months or less unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties.

b) Part-Time Temporary Employees - Benefit Limitations

Unless otherwise specifically agreed by the Union, part-time temporary employees will be paid an hourly rate which will be 108% of the hourly rate which is at the mid-point of the salary range for the appropriate classification. The enhanced rate

shall be in lieu of all other benefits except that any benefit required by law will be in addition to the enhanced rate.

Part-time temporary employees will receive 10.4% of gross earnings bi-weekly in lieu of holiday pay as set out in Article 15 and in lieu of vacation entitlements.

A part-time temporary will only be hired by mutual agreement between the parties except that the Company may hire part-time temporary employees on an as and when basis for specific projects or short term requirements of two (2) calendar weeks or less without agreement.

ARTICLE 7

JOB POSTINGS AND COMPETITIONS

7.01 Job Postings

- a) Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, all regular job vacancies will be posted in accordance with this Article unless otherwise specifically agreed to by the Union.
- b) Except for those agreed variations covered in Article 7.05 or 7.06, all regular job vacancies will be posted for five (5) working days at all of the Company's work locations, unless otherwise specifically agreed to by the Union. Except as provided in Article 7.01 k), regular job vacancies will not be advertised externally until all internal applicants are considered in accordance with Article 7.03, and rejected.
- c) The closing date of any job posting will not expire until the job has been posted on the Employer's intranet for a minimum of five (5) working days. Any applicant will have <u>their</u> job application accepted by the Company provided it is submitted online by the closing date.
- d) The job posting shall contain all relevant information including job title, work location, duties, qualifications, salary range, special conditions, status (regular or temporary, etc.) and the closing date of the competition. Should any of these conditions change after the job is posted, modifications will be issued and attached to the posting with the closing date amended consistent with the minimum five (5) day posting requirement.
- e) Late applications due to sickness, vacation or other authorized leave of absence will be accepted, provided such application is received prior to the successful applicant being advised. In situations where late applications are submitted, the cause for the application being late must be indicated on the application.
- f) The Company will provide copies of all job postings to the Union office as part of the normal posting distribution.
- g) The Company will provide written acknowledgement of each application received and each applicant will subsequently be advised in writing of the name and seniority date of the successful applicant.
- h) Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, the Union shall be advised one (1) calendar week prior to any hire from outside the bargaining unit when there are bargaining unit applicants involved in the specific job posting and the Company will provide the following information:
 - i) the posting number of the position to be filled;
 - ii) names of bargaining unit applicants who applied for the position; and
 - iii) reasons for selection outside the bargaining unit.
- i) Applicants for posted positions who are interviewed will be given time off without loss of pay for that purpose and will be reimbursed for all expenses incurred as in Article 19.

Page 24

- j) The <u>successful</u> applicant shall assume the duties of the new job not later than six (6) weeks from the date of notification of selection, unless otherwise agreed with the employee. Temporary employees who successfully apply for other positions may be retained in their temporary position for their period of temporary assignment at the discretion of the Company. In any event, however, employees will be paid at the new higher rate either the date they assume the new position or four (4) weeks from the date of notification of selection, whichever first occurs.
- k) The parties hereto agree that in certain limited instances, and particularly those involving the replacement of specialized personnel, it is unlikely that job postings will produce applications from within the bargaining unit who will have the prerequisite education and experience or equivalent to perform such jobs. In order to expedite the hiring process in such instances, the Company may advertise outside the bacgaining unit during the posting period provided the Union is notified in advance and the job posting contains a statement outlining the Company's action and reason thereto. The statement will further request employees who believe they have the prerequisite education and experience, or equivalent, to ensure that they submit their applications for consideration. External applicants will not be considered for placement in a bargaining unit position until all internal applicants are considered in accordance with Article 7.03, and rejected. The Company does agree, however, that advertising outside the bargaining unit during the posting period will be avoided wherever possible in the interest of good employee relations.
- 1) Jobs which are posted and not filled within a period of four (4) months, shall be reposted prior to being filled.
- m) The following conditions will apply in situations where Union approval is given to restrict a job posting to a department, headquarter, or job <u>classification</u>. These conditions apply only to restricted job postings beyond those already provided for in Article 7.06.
 - 1. No position vacancy within the department/functional unit will actually exist. Rather, a realignment of staff to more appropriately reflect the nature of the workload is required. This may include organizational changes resulting from the introduction of a technological or procedural change, where jobs within a department/functional unit are upgraded.
 - 2. The result of not restricting the job posting to a department/functional unit would result in the displacement of staff from that department if a selected candidate were brought in from outside the department/functional unit.
 - 3. In situations where an employee is promoted as a result of a restricted job posting, and the basis of the restricted posting was for reasons other than a technological or procedural change, the parties agree that:
 - i) should a vacancy (additional to complement) occur at the job level from which the employee was promoted within three (3) months of the promotion; or
 - ii) should a <u>redundancy</u> occur at the job level which the employee was promoted into within six (6) months of the promotion,

then the promoted employee will be subject to displacement, and will revert to their former classification.

- 4. In the event that there is no qualified applicant for the restricted job posting, the job will be posted in accordance with Article 7 prior to recruitment from outside the Company.
- 7.02 Appointments to Jobs
- a) Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, regular employees will not be eligible to apply for posted jobs during their probationary period or while on a performance improvement plan (PIP) in accordance with Article 5.03 of this Agreement.
- b) Temporary employees may apply for regular positions during their period of temporary employment but shall receive consideration as a new applicant if application is made during the probationary period. Temporary employees who apply for and are successful in attaining a regular position may be held in their temporary positions until the conclusion of their temporary assignments at the Company's option.
- 7.03 Preference in Appointments
- a) Except as limited in Articles 6.01 (b) (iv) and 7.02 (a), preference in appointment to bargaining unit positions will be given to employees in the following order:
 - 1. The employee with the highest seniority who was previously displaced or laid off under Article 8 from the position now vacant, unless such right to return pursuant to Article 8.08 is waived by the employee.
 - 2. Employees on the recall list who were laid off from the department in which the position is now vacant.
 - 3. Regular Employees of the Company who are members of the bargaining unit.
 - 4. Temporary Employees of the Company who are members of the bargaining unit.

In accordance with the above priority list, no candidate from any lower preference category shall be given consideration for any job vacancy until all candidates from all higher preference categories have been considered and rejected.

- b) The Company will consider referrals for jobs in the bargaining unit from Local 378 in the event that the vacancy cannot be filled from within the Company.
- c) If the vacancy is not filled in accordance with Clause 7.03 (a) above the Employer shall have the right to hire externally, provided the same ability requirements are maintained.

7.04 Selection Criteria

Except as limited by Article 7.03(a)(1), appointments shall be on the basis of ability to perform the vacant job (as at the time of posting) and seniority, in that order, and shall include consideration of the employee's performance on <u>their</u> previous job. Where the employee who is junior in seniority is selected, <u>their</u> ability to perform the vacant job shall be significantly and demonstrably higher than candidates who have greater seniority.

7.05 Job Selection Disputes

a) Selection Review – Should an employee feel that preference has not been given under the terms of this Article, the employee or the Job Steward on <u>their</u> behalf will raise the matter in writing to the Manager, Human Resources within seven (7) calendar days of the date the employee received written notification of selection under 7.01 (g).

Within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of such referral, the Manager, Human Resources will review the selection and reply to the employee in writing.

b) Selection Grievance - Should an employee feel that preference has not been given under the terms of 7.03 (a) or should a more senior employee feel aggrieved as a result of a job selection under 7.03 (b) or any other placement under this Agreement (unless otherwise agreed to by the Union as provided for in 7.01 (a) or 7.01 (b), the employee will inform the Union within seven (7) calendar days of the date they received the reply from the Manager, Human Resources, that they wish to raise a formal grievance. The Union will initiate the grievance at Stage II or Stage III of the grievance procedure as set out in Article 3 within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of the reply from the Manager, Human Resources.

In cases where a selection grievance is initiated, the employee who has been selected for the position may assume it on a temporary basis until such grievance has been resolved.

7.06 Limited Postings and Standing Applications

- a) Job vacancies in salary groups 2 and 3 will not be posted.
- b) Job vacancies in salary group 4 will be posted in the applicable headquarter only. (Reference 19.01).
- c) Should any employee wish to be considered for any specific job in salary groups 1 to 4 inclusive, which the Company is not required to post at <u>their</u> headquarter, <u>the</u> <u>employee</u> may apply by submitting in writing a standing application for that job to the Manager, Human Resources. The employee in such instances will be advised of all vacancies and selections for that job on the same basis as if the specific job were bulletined. The employee will have complete recourse to the grievance procedure as outlined in this Article to resolve any dispute.

Standing applications will not be accepted for positions in salary group 5 and above.

Employees are required to reaffirm their standing application every four (4) months.

- 7.07 Agreed Trainee Jobs
- a) The purpose of a trainee classification is to provide for the upgrading of an employee's knowledge, skills and abilities under a coordinated training program in order to meet the requirements of an end level position, and to define a salary progression which is commensurate with the employee's satisfactory progress through the training program.

Where a need for trainees is identified, the pay group for that trainee position will be established through the application of Article 10. The length of the training period appropriate to the trainee position and the salary progression through the trainee salary range will be established by mutual agreement of the parties.

Except as may be otherwise expressly provided, trainees if hired under an agreed training program will automatically progress to the designated job as agreed at the completion of the training program without such designated end job being posted, provided:

- i) the designated job is posted prior to considering any trainee posting, and,
- ii) the trainee position is posted prior to considering any outside hire
- b) Any employee will have the right to grieve any selection or decision under 7.06 (a)
 (i) or (ii) in accordance with the procedures in this Article.
- 7.08 Lateral Transfers

The company will not be required to accept an application by a regular employee for a lateral transfer (i.e., to a job in the same pay grade as <u>their</u> present job) or a demotion (i.e., to a job in a lower pay grade than <u>their</u> present job) unless eighteen (18) months have elapsed since the date the employee was last hired or secured a transfer or a promotion pursuant to this Article.

Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, the above clause will not apply in the following cases:

- i) the employee has moved location at the direction of the Company since they first secured a position pursuant to this article, or
- ii) a placement has occurred due to the procedures set out in Article 8, Article 9, or any other placement of a non-voluntary nature.
- iii) the employee is on a performance improvement plan (PIP) in accordance with Article 5.03 of this Agreement and the parties mutually agree that placement in a vacant lower level position would be appropriate in all the circumstances.

(Reference Articles 4.09, 7.08, 7.09, 19.01b)
7.09 Lateral Exchange of Employees

The following provisions are understood and agreed upon:

The parties to this agreement will cooperate in facilitating exchange transfers between regular employees subject to Article 7.07 and the following conditions:

- a) this will be a voluntary action at the employee's request;
- b) there will be no expenses paid by the company;
- c) the exchange transfer must be at the same job;
- d) the exchange transfer must be between employees who are each capable of performing the new job;
- e) the Company must concur with the exchange transfer and such exchange transfer shall not be unreasonably denied, subject to Article 7.07;
- f) this will be a once only opportunity for any regular employee.

7.10 Hiring from Outside the Company

- a) The parties agree that the Company requires some flexibility in recruiting for specific positions in order to bring people from outside the Company with acquired skills and abilities into these positions.
- b) The parties agree that the Company can hire externally in each calendar year into no more than two positions, at the Company's discretion, in each calendar year without any internal posting or competition.
- c) In order to give interested employees an opportunity to make their interests known, the Company will advertise the positions for five (5) working days at all the Company's work locations.
- d) The Union will be notified in writing of employees hired under this Article.

LAYOFF AND RECALL

8.01 Requirement to meet with Union and Pre-Lay-off Canvass

If a reduction of regular employees is necessary due to a shortage of work, or for reasons beyond the control of the Company, the Company shall meet with, and advise the Union of the proposed reduction and the jobs affected as soon as possible and no reduction in staff shall occur until the following procedures are applied. Prior to layoff of any full-time regular employee the Company will layoff temporary and part-time regular employees, in that order, in the department affected. The basic principle in applying layoff to any regular employee shall be last hired, first laid off provided the retained employee can perform the job. (See 19.01c).

In the event of lay-off the Company will canvass all employees in the job classification in the location where the lay-off is to occur to seek volunteers.

In the event that more than one employee in the affected job classification volunteers, layoff will commence in the order of seniority. Severance pay will equal in weeks to that of the junior employee who would be affected by lay-off had a senior employee not volunteered for the lay-off.

8.02 Vacancy Rights

The Company will endeavor to place regular employees affected by layoff in other vacant positions within the Company provided the employee has the prerequisite education and experience, or equivalent, and can perform the job within a reasonable period of orientation. Such a period of orientation is not to exceed thirty (30) working days. The union will cooperate by waiving job postings as required.

The employee may elect to exercise their bumping right if:

- i) there are no vacant positions available, or
- ii) the employee can bump into a position of higher pay grade than the vacant position(s) available, or
- iii) the available vacant position(s) would involve relocation that carried an entitlement to moving expense under Article 19.08 and the position that the employee could bump into does not involve relocation that carried an entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08.

Should there be a vacant position available which does not involve relocation which carries an entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08, and the employee does not elect to exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights, the employee will either accept such placement into a vacant position or be deemed to have elected layoff and receive severance pay in accordance with 8.05. Where an employee declines such placement into a vacant position, and elects layoff, <u>their</u> rights of recall will be limited to only those positions in a higher pay grade than the one offered at the time of layoff.

8.03 Bumping Rights

- a) Subject to the limitations specified, any regular employee who is subject to layoff under the terms of this Agreement may bump the least senior employee from an equivalent or lower level job on the following basis;
 - i) the least senior employee in the same job classification (i.e. job title); or
 - ii) the least senior employee in a job the redundant employee previously permanently held since the date of the last hire with the Company;

provided the employee has the prerequisite education and experience, or equivalent, and can perform the job within a reasonable period of orientation. Such period of orientation will not exceed thirty (30) working days.

- b) Any regular employee with less than five (5) years' seniority may exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights in accordance with 8.03 (a) in the following order:
 - i) in the headquarter where the employee is employed.
 - ii) in any headquarter where <u>the employee</u> was previously employed. If the employee has bumping rights to a position in the same job title in several previous headquarters <u>they</u> must bump into <u>their</u> previous headquarter that has the least senior incumbent.

Employees electing to exercise their bumping rights in accordance with item (ii) above will not be eligible for moving expenses as defined in Article 19.08 of the Agreement.

- c) Any regular employee with more than five (5) years' seniority may exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights in accordance with 8.03 (a) in the following order;
 - i) in the headquarter where the employee is employed;
 - ii) in any headquarter within the Company. If the employee has bumping rights to a position in the same job title in several headquarters they must bump into the headquarter that has the least senior incumbent.
- d) For all full time regular employees, if:
 - i) no bumping alternative(s) are available as per 8.03 (a); or
 - ii) the bumping alternative(s) under 8.03 (a) would result in the employee assuming a lower level position than <u>they</u> would otherwise be qualified for within <u>their</u> current department;
 - iii) the bumping alternative(s) under 8.03 (a) would involve relocation that would normally carry moving expenses under Article 19.08;

the employee may bump the least senior employee from an equivalent or lower level job within <u>their</u> current department provided the employee has the prerequisite education and experience, or equivalent, and can perform the job within a reasonable period of orientation. Such period of orientation will not exceed thirty (30) working days. Department is defined as the organizational unit reporting to the first level of management.

- e) Should an employee with more than five (5) years' seniority not have any bumping options as set out above, the Company will endeavor to create a vacancy for the employee's placement through the layoff of a junior employee – with less than two (2) years' seniority – from a position for which the senior employee has the prerequisite education and experience, or equivalent, and can perform within a reasonable period of orientation. Such period of orientation will not exceed thirty (30) working days. The order of designating such a position will be first by department, then Company wide. (See Article 19.01c)
- f) Employees who have the opportunity to exercise their bumping right under Article 8.03 (c) and who have the opportunity to bump into two (2) or more jobs will exercise their bumping rights within the same headquarter prior to bumping Company wide, except that such condition will not negate the employee's right to bump into the highest salary grade job available.
- g) Regular employees who are bumped under the foregoing provisions may in turn exercise their seniority to bump other employees in accordance with this Article.
- h) Lack of space in a headquarter may require overflow premises to accommodate employees of a department who would otherwise be located in that headquarter if space permitted. Where this occurs, all such premises of that department shall be deemed to be a single headquarter for the purposes of establishing bumping rights under this Article. (Reference 19.01 a, b).
- 8.04 Written Notice of Layoff

Any regular employee who is laid off will receive written notice of layoff or pay in lieu thereof as follows:

- i) employees who have less than three (3) years' service with the Company since the last date of hire will receive two (2) calendar weeks written notice.
- ii) employees who have three (3) or more years' service with the Company since the last date of hire will receive four (4) calendar weeks written notice.
- 8.05 Severance Pay
- a) Any regular employee who has received written notice of layoff in accordance with the foregoing and declines placement into a vacant position or does not or is unable to elect bumping rights under Article 8.03 will be laid off with severance pay as follows:

<u>Completed Years</u> of Service	<u>Weeks Severance Pay</u> (Regular Wages)
<2 years	7 weels
3 years	8 weeks
4 years	9 weeks
5 years	10 weeks
6 years or more	12 weeks, plus 2 weeks for each additional
	full year of service in excess of 6 years

Page 32

b) An employee laid off under this Article may elect at time of layoff to:

- i) take a lump sum payment equivalent to the full amount of <u>their</u> severance entitlement, or
- ii) take their severance in the most tax advantageous manner permissible by law.

8.06 Severance Repayment on Recall

A regular employee who receives severance pay, if <u>the employee</u> returns to work for the Company, will reimburse the Company for any portion of severance pay which exceeds the period of layoff prior to <u>their</u> return to work. An employee who receives severance pay because of more than one layoff shall not receive total severance pay which will exceed the amount of severance entitlement defined in 8.05 (i.e. severance pay is not cumulative with each layoff).

8.07 Salary on Transfer to Lower Level Jobs

A regular employee who accepts placement into a vacant position or bumps to a lower level job under the conditions of this Article will continue to receive <u>their</u> salary on such transfer along with increases on <u>their</u> appropriate anniversary dates provided, however, that <u>they</u> will not receive a salary which is higher than the <u>maximum</u> of the lower level job.

8.08 Reinstatement Within One Year

A regular employee who accepts a lower level position under this Article shall have the right to reinstatement of <u>their</u> former position or one substantially derived from it, if such becomes available within one (1) year from the date of accepting the lower level position. The job, in such instances, will not be posted and the employee shall receive the salary <u>they</u> would have attained assuming <u>they</u> had not transferred to a lower level job.

8.09 Recall List and Procedure

- a) Employees with less than two (2) years' continuous service shall be placed on a recall list for six (6) months. Employees with more than two (2) years' continuous service shall be placed on a recall list for twelve (12) months.
- b) Employees on the recall list will be considered automatic applicants to job vacancies posted in accordance with the provisions of Article 7, provided they have previously held the vacant position or the position is within the department from which they were subject to layoff. Such automatic application will apply only to jobs at an equal or lower level to that from which the employee was laid off.

New employees will not be hired until employees on the recall list who were laid off from or who have the prerequisite education and experience or equivalent to perform the job are <u>recalled</u> in their order of seniority.

Should there be no employee on the recall list eligible for recall above, the job vacancy will be filled in accordance with Article 7.

- c) Employees who are recalled will be given a salary on rehire which is equivalent to the salary they would have received assuming they had not been laid off except that such salary will not be below the minimum or above the maximum of the salary range.
- d) Notice of recall will be sent by registered mail, courier or email to the last known residential or email address of all employees on the recall list who are eligible for recall under 8.09 (b). Such employees will have seven (7) calendar days from the date the recall notice is received in which to respond and report to work, with employees being rehired in order of their seniority. An employee must respond to notice of recall to a lower level job, but may decline such and remain on the recall list. An employee who fails to respond to any notice of recall will be deemed to be terminated. The notice of recall will clearly state this requirement.
- e) An employee on layoff who fails to respond and report to work on recall to a job of a continuing nature of equal or higher salary grade than that job from which the <u>employee</u> was laid off at the same headquarters shall be terminated by the Company.
- f) Employees on layoff will keep the Company informed of their current address for recall. Should an employee change <u>their</u> address during the period of layoff, <u>they</u> will inform the Company of such change by registered mail, courier or email.
- g) Should a temporary position become available at the headquarter from which an employee was laid off and for which the laid off employee has the prerequisite education and experience or equivalent to perform the job, the Company will attempt to contact the employee (by telephone) to determine <u>their</u> interest in the position. The employee's decision not to accept the position, whatever level it may be, will not prejudice <u>their</u> previously established rights of recall into regular position vacancies.
- h) Should the affected employee accept the temporary position, <u>their</u> status during <u>their</u> employment with the Company in that position will be considered that of a regular employee except that <u>they</u> will continue to be eligible for recall into a regular position vacancy during their period of employment in the temporary position. In the event the employee is subsequently laid off while holding a temporary position, <u>they</u> will not be eligible to exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights and will be subject to recall in accordance with <u>their</u> original recall rights when laid off from a regular position. In such cases the employee's period of recall as defined in Article 8.09 (a) will recommence. The terms of Articles 8.02, 8.04, 8.05, 8.06 and 8.07 (whichever is appropriate) will apply in total to an employee affected by this clause.

8.10 Copies of Recall List and Notices of Recall

Copies of recall lists will be available to the Union upon request. Copies of all notices of recall will be sent to the Union Office.

TECHNOLOGICAL AND PROCEDURAL CHANGE

9.01 Notice to the Union of Change

The Company will provide the Union with as much notice as possible prior to introducing automation or new equipment or new procedures which could result in the displacement or downgrading of any regular employee covered by this Agreement. In any event, no changes will be implemented under this Article until such time as the following procedures have been adhered to.

9.02 Attrition First

Prior to the application of the following procedures, the parties hereto agree that they will cooperate in facilitating the placement of employees displaced as a result of 9.01 above by attrition wherever possible.

The basic principle in applying displacement to any regular employee shall be last hired, first laid off provided the retained employee(s) can perform the job. (See Article 19.01 c)

9.03 Displacement of Employees with Less Than 5 Years Seniority

Any full-time regular employee with less than five (5) years' continuous service with the Company who is displaced under this Article will be entitled to the following considerations in the following order:

The parties agree that the terms and conditions of Article 8.02 will apply in the event of bumping under this Article.

- a) The Company will place the employee in an available position of equal salary grade within the same headquarter or with the same department that the employee can perform after appropriate training and orientation, the period of which shall not exceed three (3) months. The Union will cooperate with such placements by waiving job postings as required. The employee will either accept the available position (unless it involves relocation), or elect to terminate and receive severance pay in accordance with 9.03 (d).
- b) If no position at an equal salary grade within the same headquarter or within the same department is available, or if such position is available and has been rejected by the employee because it involves relocation, the Company will offer the employee an available position at a lower salary grade within the same headquarter or within the same department or within any department where the employee has previously worked that the employee can perform after appropriate training and orientation, the period of which shall not exceed three (3) months. The Union will cooperate with such placements by waiving job postings as required.

The employee will accept the position being offered unless acceptance would involve relocation, or unless the employee elects to exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights into an alternate position in accordance with Article 8.02. The exercising of these bumping rights, however, must result in the employee either securing a position in a higher pay grade than the one being offered, or securing a position in a location that does not involve relocation that carried entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08, and is consistent with the order of bumping as described in 8.02. In the event the employee does not accept placement in an available position for reasons other than described herein, the employee will elect to terminate and receive severance pay in accordance with 9.03 (d).

- c) When an employee who has been displaced under this Article cannot be placed or rejects placement because it involves relocation, and subsequently elects not to exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights or exhausts <u>their</u> bumping rights, the employee will be laid off and will receive severance pay in accordance with Article 9.03 (d). An employee who is laid off shall be placed on the recall list in accordance with the period defined in Article 8.09 (a).
- d) An employee who elects to terminate under 9.03 (a) or 9.03 (b) or who is laid off under 9.03 (c), will receive severance pay in accordance with Articles 8.03, 8.04, 8.05 and 8.06 (whichever is appropriate).
- e) An employee who is placed or bumps into a lower grade job will receive salary protection in accordance with Article 9.05.

9.04 Displacement of Employee with More Than 5 Years Seniority

Any full-time regular employee with five (5) or more years continuous service with the Company who is displaced under this Article will be entitled to the following considerations in the following order:

The parties agree that the terms and conditions of Article 8.02 will apply in the event of bumping under this Article.

a) The Company will place any affected employee in any available job within the Company of equal salary grade which is acceptable to the employee and for which the employee is retrainable. In such instances, the Company will provide the necessary training and the Union will cooperate by waiving job postings as required.

The employee may elect to exercise their bumping rights if:

- i) there are no positions available at an equal salary grade, or
- ii) the available position(s) would involve relocation that carries an entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08 and the position that the employee could bump into does not involve relocation that carried entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08.

Should there be a position available at an equal salary grade to the one from which the employee was displaced (which does not involve relocation which carries an entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08), the employee will either accept such a position or elect to terminate and receive severance pay in accordance with 9.04 (d). b) Should placement not be possible under (a) above, the Company will place any affected employee in any available job within the Company of lower salary grade which is acceptable to the employee. In such instances the Company will provide reasonable training and the Union will cooperate by waiving job postings as required.

The employee may elect to exercise their bumping rights if:

- i) there are no position(s) available or,
- ii) the employee can bump into a position of higher pay grade than the position(s) available, or
- iv) The available position(s) would involve relocation that carries an entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08 and the position that the employee could bump into does not involve relocation that carried entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08.

Should there be a position available which does not involve relocation which carries an entitlement to moving expenses under Article 19.08, and the employee does not elect to exercise <u>their</u> bumping rights, the employee will either accept such a position or elect to terminate and receive severance pay in accordance with 9.04 (d).

- c) An employee who cannot be placed under 9.04 (a) or 9.04 (b), and who subsequently elects not to emercise <u>their</u> bumping rights or exhausts <u>their</u> bumping rights, will be laid off and receive severance pay in accordance with 9.04 (d). An employee who is laid off shall be placed on the recall list in accordance with the period defined in Article 8.09 (a).
- d) An employee who elects to terminate under 9.04 (a) or 9.04 (b), or who is laid off under 9.04 (c) will receive severance pay in accordance with Articles 8.03, 8.04, 8.05 and 8.06 (whichever is appropriate).
- e) An employee who is placed or bumps into a lower grade job will receive salary protection in accordance with 9.05 or 9.06 whichever is applicable.

9.05 Salary Protection (Hired After February 4, 1985)

A full-time regular employee, hired after February 4, 1985, who is placed or bumps into a lower level job will receive salary protection effective from the date <u>the employee</u> assumes the lower level job, as follows:

PERIOD OF PROTECTED SALARY TREATMENT

- i) up to and including three (3) years of service, one (1) month of protected treatment for each full year of service.
- ii) more than three (3) years of service, three (3) months protected treatment plus two
 (2) months' protected treatment for each full year of service in excess of three (3)
 years to a maximum of twelve (12) months protected treatment. (Reference Article 11.19)

9.06 Salary Protection (Hired Prior to February 4, 1985)

A full-time regular employee hired on or prior to February 4, 1985, who is placed or bumps into a lower level job will receive salary protection effective from the date <u>the employee</u> assumes the lower level job, as follows:

PERIOD OF PROTECTED SALARY TREATMENT

- i) up to and including three (3) years' service, one (1) month of protected treatment for each full year of service.
- ii) more than three (3) years of service, three (3) months protected treatment plus two
 (2) months' protected treatment for each full year of service in excess of three (3) years.
- iii) more than five (5) years of service, entitlement will be as calculated per item (ii) above, or twelve (12) months' protected treatment, whichever is greater. (Reference Article 11.19)

9.07 Red Circled Continued

After the expiry of this protected salary period, (as described in Articles 9.05 or 9.06, whichever is appropriate) the affected employee will have <u>their</u> salary red-circled if such salary is above the maximum of the lower level job (Reference Article 11.19)

9.08 Placement of Red Circle Employee in Higher Level Position

An employee who is in receipt of the protected salary treatment as set out in 9.05 or 9.06 above or whose salary has been red-circled pursuant to the application of Article 9.07 will accept placement in a higher level position up to the level from which <u>the employee</u> was displaced which comes available at the employee's current department provided <u>they</u> can reasonably perform the work. Otherwise, the employee's salary will be reduced to the maximum of the pay grade for the position <u>the employee</u> holds, and the Company will not be obliged to place the employee in any other such higher level position.

9.09 Special Severance

Should the Company and an employee, with Union advice and assistance, determine that an early retirement or voluntary severance resignation would be to the benefit of the parties the language in this article will not limit the discussion surrounding any severance package if applicable.

JOB CLASSIFICATIONS - DESCRIPTIONS - EVALUATIONS

10.01 Job Classifications

All bargaining unit employees will be covered by a job classification which will be set out in Appendix A.

The Company will provide a job description for each bargaining unit job classification set out in Appendix A, and for each new job classification or revised job classification as established under this Article.

The Company will provide copies of job descriptions to the Union Office. Job descriptions applicable to each department of the Company will be available within the department, and a copy of the employee's job description will be provided to the employee upon request.

10.02 Job Classifications Salary Assignment

Job classifications will be described, evaluated and assigned a pay grade by the Human Resources Department utilizing the Gender Neutral Job Evaluation Plan agreed by the parties in 1996. New job classifications will not be posted until the job description has been prepared, evaluated and assigned a pay grade.

10.03 Duty and Responsibility Changes

Duties and responsibilities of job <u>classifications</u> may be changed by the Company subject to the changes being properly documented into the job description. Such jobs will be evaluated and assigned a pay grade by the Human Resources Department.

10.04 Updating Appendix "A"

Appendix A will be updated as appropriate by the Human Resources Department to reflect completed evaluations.

10.05 Minor Duties

Job descriptions prepared in accordance with this Article will describe job duties and responsibilities as clearly and specifically as possible, and will form part of this Agreement. Minor duties, which are ancillary to one or more of the duties defined in the job description, may be omitted from the job description, provided such duties are related to those set out in the job description, and provided such duties do not affect the value of the job.

10.06 Consultation with Affected Employee(s)

Job Descriptions will be prepared by the Human Resources Department after consultation with the affected employee or a representative group of affected employees and the appropriate supervisor(s). The affected employee or a representative group of affected employees will initial the final job description indicating that they agree with the basic description. Such agreement will not abrogate any rights of appeal.

10.07 Job Description Changes

- a) A "Job Duty Change Form" will be prepared by the Company, in a format mutually agreed to by the parties, for the purpose of recording changes in job duties and responsibilities which are of a continuing nature, except for minor duties as described in Article 10.05. Such forms will be completed by the applicable Manager or <u>their</u> designate and will be forwarded to the Human Resources Department within ten (10) working days of the changes occurring. A copy will be provided by the Human Resources Department to the Union Office.
- b) It will not be necessary to prepare a Job Duty Change Form for changes in job duties and responsibilities which will be of a temporary or non-recurring nature. In the event of a disagreement between the employee and <u>their</u> Manager in regard to this assessment, the employee may submit a Job Duty Change Form to the Human Resources Department, which will subsequently provide a copy to the Union.
- c) As Job Duty Change Forms are received, the Human Resources Department will rewrite the job description when the scope and substance of the changes appear to affect the rating of the job or the general nature of the job.
- d) The parties to the Agreement agree that it is in the best interest of all parties to maintain the job descriptions in an up-to-date form.

10.08 Work in Lower Pay Classification

Employees may be required to temporarily perform work in lower pay classifications provided such employees suffer no reduction in pay grade. It is the intent of this clause that the Company will not assign such work in a discriminatory manner.

10.09 Work in a Higher Pay Classification

Employees may be requested to perform work in a higher pay <u>classification</u> subject to such work being offered on an equitable and rotational basis to those employees capable of performing the work. In such instances, employees will receive salary in the acting capacity in accordance with Article 11.14.

10.10 Fair and Equitable Job Classification

The parties agree that the Company's existing Job Evaluation Plan will apply during the life of the Agreement. It is the intent of this Article that all jobs will be classified fairly and equitably relative to each other.

10.11 Job Evaluation Appeal Procedures

Stage 1

The affected employee may initiate, in writing, a job description or job evaluation appeal to the Manager, Human Resources. The Manager, Human Resources, or designate, will review the Job Evaluation results with a representative of the Union chosen for their expertise in job evaluation.

Should the representatives of the parties:

- i) agree that there is no change in the salary group, the appeal will be resolved and the factor ratings assigned by the Management Representative will be utilized.
- ii) agree that a different salary group is warranted, and agree on the pay grade, the appeal will be resolved and the factor ratings assigned by the Management Representative will be utilized.
- iii) disagree on the pay grade, then the appeal will be referred to Stage II.

This review will be completed within forty-five days.

Stage II - Binding Arbitration

a) The parties agree to employ and share equally, all costs of a named individual, chosen for their expertise and experience in the actual application of the complete process of job analysis, description writing and classification under the current Job Evaluation Plan, to act as a Standing Arbitrator. The Standing Arbitrator will be paid on a basis agreed to by the parties, and will resolve the appeal through the application of the Company's Job Evaluation Plan. This may include on-the-job reviews if required. The Standing Arbitrator will be limited to decisions on the factor ratings which are in dispute. The standing Arbitrator for the life of this agreement will be Lynn Maynard.

Time limits as set out herein may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties to this Agreement and such agreement will not be unreasonably denied.

10.12 Changes by Job Evaluation Plan Only

Pay levels of job classifications set out in Appendix A will only be changed through the application of the Job Evaluation Plan and related procedures as set out in this Article.

10.13 Annual Review

On an annual basis representatives of the Company and the Union, each with a good understanding of job evaluation and the principles of pay equity, will convene to ensure that the application of the new plan is consistent with the principles of pay equity and gender neutrality.

SALARY ADMINISTRATION

11.01 Pay According to Job Classification and Salary Group

All employees covered by the Agreement will be classified and paid under one of the job classifications and salary groups set out in Appendix A except that job classifications and salary groups subsequently developed under Article 10 will be included and form part of Appendix A.

11.02 Bi-Weekly Pay and Calculation

Employees will be paid on a bi-weekly basis with the bi-weekly salary calculated at 46.154% of the employee's normal monthly rate rounded to the nearest cent.

11.03 Hourly Rate Calculation

Employee's normal hourly rate for overtime and premium pay calculations shall be calculated to the nearest cent by dividing the employee's bi-weekly salary as established in Article 11.02 by seventy-two and one-half $(72 \frac{1}{2})$.

11.04 Minimum Rate

No Employee will receive less than minimum rate for the job.

11.05 Rate Upon Hiring

New employees will be hired at the minimum rate for the job except that the Company may hire up to the midpoint of the salary range at its option, to recognize related experience. New employees may be hired above the midpoint of the salary range provided agreement is reached with the Union.

11.06 Length of Service Increases

- a) Except as limited by Article 11.07, an employee whose salary falls between the minimum and the maximum of the salary range shall receive length of service increases along the salary scale on the following basis:
 - i) All regular employees hired prior to the signing of this Agreement will retain their previously established length of service date unless promoted as per item (iii) below.
 - ii) New employees, hired subsequent to the signing of this Agreement will have their length of service increase date for their entry job determined by reference to their date of hire.
 - iii) Any regular employees who receive a promotion subsequent to the signing of this Agreement, will receive a salary adjustment in accordance with Article 11.08, and will have their length of service date adjusted to reflect their date of promotion.

b) An employee will progress along the salary scale at one year intervals except that an employee who is hired at or promoted to Step 1 will receive a length of service increase after six (6) months service. Such an employee will thereafter receive length of service increases at annual intervals until <u>they reach</u> the <u>maximum</u> of the salary range.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, length of service increase dates will be moved back to reflect the number of working days taken as leave without pay whenever such leave exceeds one calendar month.

c) An employee whose salary is on a step of the salary range will receive a length of service increase to the next step of the range. If a promoted employee's salary falls below the mid-point between Step 1 and Step 2 of the new scale, the salary will be set to Step 1 of the range. If a promoted employee's salary falls at, or above, the mid-point between Step 1 and Step 2 of the new range, the salary will be set to Step 2 of the range. An employee whose salary falls between any other steps on the salary range will receive length of service increases which equal the dollar difference between the steps in which the employee's salary fell before the increase except that no employee will receive a length of service increase which would place them above the maximum salary for the job.

11.07 Withholding and Reinstating Length of Service Increases

Length of service increases as set out in Article 11.06 may only be withheld for inadequate performance and after the employee has been given written notice of <u>their</u> inadequacies and the intention to withhold; such notice to be given not less than one calendar month prior to the date of the increase. The Union will be notified in writing of such action.

The length of service increase may be withheld for a period not to exceed three (3) calendar months but notwithstanding this, and the employee will not be eligible for a length of service increase while on probation in accordance with Article 5.03 of this Agreement. When the employee has restored <u>their</u> performance, <u>they</u> will regain <u>their</u> position in the salary scale on a non-retroactive basis.

11.08 Rate of Pay upon Promotion

An employee who is promoted from one salary group to another will receive an increase of 5% for each salary group of promotion after first determining a pro-rata adjustment to their old salary based on the accrued time since the last length of service increase in conjunction with the point when a length of service increase would have occurred. No employee, subsequent to the application of this promotion formula, will receive less than Step 1 or more than Step 5 of the new range.

11.09 Pay on Performing Higher Graded Job Duties

An employee who performs part or all of a higher graded job on a regular continuing basis, daily or weekly, shall have the duties and responsibilities reflected in <u>their</u> job description and pay grade as set out in Article 10. 11.10 Pay on Transfer to a Lower Level Job Due to Inadequate Performance

Except as modified in this Section, an employee who transfers to a lower level job at <u>their</u> request or as a result of inadequate performance under Article 5.03 shall retain <u>their</u> salary provided such salary is not above the maximum of the lower graded job.

An employee under this clause who has less than six (6) months' service in the higher level job will receive a salary under this clause on reverting to a lower level job which would be that salary which <u>they</u> would have attained assuming <u>they</u> had not transferred to the higher level job in the first instance.

An employee under this clause who has less than six (6) months' service since being hired into the higher level job will receive a salary in the lower level job equivalent to that which they would have attained assuming they had been hired into the lower level job in the first instance.

11.11 Pay on Transfer to a Lower Level Job for Health Reasons

An employee who transfers to a lower graded job as a result of poor health shall not suffer any reduction in pay and the employee's salary will be red-circled if <u>their</u> salary is higher than the maximum of the lower level job.

An employee who returns to work full-time to a lower graded job under the Rehabilitation Program of the LTD Plan shall receive the normal salary for the job classification for all hours worked (i.e. no more than the maximum step of the salary group for the job classification). The difference between this present salary and <u>their</u> salary prior to disability will be paid through LTD benefit to provide up to 100% of <u>their</u> previous net pay, or to a lesser amount as may be determined by the <u>maximum</u> benefit payable through the LTD Plan.

11.12 Transfers Due to Technological Procedural Changes or Layoff

An employee who transfers to other jobs under the condition of Article 9 (Technological and Procedural Change) or Article 8 (Layoff and Recall), shall receive salary treatment in accordance with the appropriate Articles. An employee who remains in the same job, but whose job rating is changed under Article 10, shall receive salary treatment in accordance with Articles 11.17 and 11.18 (c).

11.13 Pay on Temporary Performance of Lower Graded Work

An employee who temporarily performs lower graded work in accordance with Article 10 shall not suffer any loss of earnings or salary progression during such period.

11.14 Pay for Acting Capacity

a) An employee who is temporarily appointed to a higher level position in an acting capacity will have <u>their</u> salary adjusted in accordance with Article 11.08 except that no accrual adjustment will be made to the regular rate of pay before applying the promotion formula. Such increases will not apply for appointment to relieve other employees who are on leave of absence of three (3) days or less. (Should such relief period exceed three (3) consecutive days, the employee's salary will be adjusted from the commencement of such relief period in accordance with the foregoing.)

b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 11.14 (a), an employee who is temporarily appointed to a higher level position in an acting capacity which is two (2) levels or less shall receive full salary adjustment of 5% per salary group.

If a temporary promotion is three groups or more above <u>their</u> current level, the Human Resources Department will review the contents of the higher job group to determine the responsibilities to be assumed and will establish the appropriate job level for the relief period but the minimum increase will be two groups.

c) An employee who performs a higher level position in an acting capacity under the foregoing, on reverting to <u>their</u> former position will receive the salary that <u>they</u> would have attained assuming <u>they</u> had remained in <u>their</u> former position.

11.15 Length of Service Increase While in an Acting Capacity

An employee who performs a higher level position in an acting capacity shall receive any length of service increases that <u>they</u> would have been eligible to receive in <u>their</u> regular position and will have the acting promotional increase applied thereto.

11.16 Notification and Limitations

- a) Employees required to perform a higher grade job in an acting capacity will be advised in writing, with a copy to the Union, stating the commencement date, job title, salary adjustment, and duration of the acting capacity.
- b) Acting appointments will be limited to projects or work assignments not exceeding six (6) months in duration. Extensions to such appointments beyond six (6) months will be by mutual agreement with the Union.

11.17 Pay on Reclassification and Effect on Length of Service Date

- a) An employee whose position is reclassified to a higher pay group as a result of a change in job content, including stated job qualifications, will have <u>their</u> salary adjusted in accordance with Article 11.08, and will have <u>their</u> length of service date adjusted to reflect the date of reclassification.
- b) An employee whose position is reclassified to a higher pay group without a change in job content will have <u>their</u> salary adjusted to the same point in the new range as <u>they occupied in their</u> former pay group, and will retain <u>their</u> previous length of service date.

11.18 Application of Wage Increases to Red Circled Salaries

If an employee's salary is in excess of the maximum salary for their position, (i.e. is red-circled) prior to the granting of a general increase and their present salary becomes less than the new maximum for the range after applying the general increase to the range, they will receive the difference between their present salary and the new maximum of the range. The employee will receive the full value of any subsequent general increases during the term of this Agreement unless their salary again becomes red-circled prior to the granting of a subsequent general increase, in which case the treatment set out in this Article 11.18 (a) will apply.

- b) If an employee's salary is in excess of the maximum salary for <u>their</u> position (i.e., is red-circled) prior to the granting of a general increase and <u>their</u> present salary continues to be more than the new maximum for the range after the general increase has been applied to the range, <u>their</u> salary will remain unchanged. At such point as <u>their</u> salary falls within the range as a result of the application of a subsequent general increase during the term of this Agreement, <u>they</u> will be treated as in Article 11.18 (a) preceding.
- c) Notwithstanding Articles 11.18 (a) and 11.18 (b), an employee whose salary is redcircled as a result of the application of Article 10(Job Evaluation) will receive 100% of any general increases applied within a twelve (12) month period following the re-evaluation. Thereafter, the employee will receive 70% of all subsequent general increases, or the difference between <u>their</u> salary and the new maximum for <u>their</u> range after applying the general increase, whichever is greater.

11.19 Definitions

- a) **Protected Salary Treatment as** described in Article 9.05 and 9.06 means that upon assuming a lower level job an employee will retain this existing salary and will receive all scheduled salary increases for the specified period.
- b) **Red-Circled Treatment** where used in this Agreement means that an employee will retain <u>their</u> established salary but will not be entitled to any further salary increases until the maximum of the salary range for <u>their</u> job classification equals or exceeds <u>their</u> salary.

11.20 General Salary Increases

Salary scales for existing classifications will be paid in accordance with the salary schedule set out in Appendix "B". All Employees shall receive general increases on the dates set out in Appendix "B" in accordance with the following schedule:

Increase the 01 October 2016 salary scales in Appendix "B" as follows:

- a) 01 October 20<u>17</u> <u>1.0%</u>
- b) 01 October 2018 0.5%
- c) 01 October 2019 1.5%
- d) 01 October 2020 1.5%

HOURS OF WORK

12.01 Variable Hours

The hours of work for all employees will be as follows:

- a) Work Day Seven and one-half $(7 \frac{1}{2})$ hours per day.
- b) Work Week Five (5) days, Monday to Friday, inclusive.
- c) Business Hours 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. These are the hours that all departments must operate and sufficient coverage must be provided throughout these hours.
- d) Start/Finish Times It is understood and agreed that the Employer reserves the right to set the schedule and available shifts (including start and end times) for Employees to select from. Employees may select to start not earlier than 7:00 a.m. and not later than 9:00 a.m. and finish not earlier than 3:30 p.m. and not later than 5:00 p.m. Selections will be subject to adequate coverage being provided in all areas during business hours and to other operating requirements.
- e) Lunch Period Employees may select lunch periods of thirty (30) minutes, fortyfive (45) minutes or sixty (60) minutes, subject to adequate coverage being provided in all areas during business hours and to other operating requirements. Lunch periods will begin not earlier than 11:30 a.m. and end not later than 2:00 p.m. In no case can an Employee's lunch period be reduced or <u>eliminated</u> to reduce the standard work day in a) above, nor can an Employee select a lunch period which would result in the Employee's work day ending outside of the start/finish times in d) above.
- f) Pre-Selection of Start/Finish Times and Lunch Periods

Employees will pre-select their start/finish times and duration of the lunch period for management approval for a two (2) week interval with pre-selection to occur not later than Wednesday of the week immediately preceding the two (2) week interval. Such approval will not be unreasonably denied.

12.02 Scheduled Time off Provisions

Full-time regular employees will be entitled to the time off provisions as set out herein:

a) Employees will earn an entitlement of one (1) day off for time worked in each of the following periods:

January 1 to February 14 February 15 to March 31 April 1 to May 14 May 15 to June 30 July 1 to August 14 August 15 to September 30 October 1 to November 14 November 15 to December 31

- b) Scheduled time off will not be taken in less than one half day at a time.
- c) The day off will normally be taken in the period in which it is earned except that employees shall be allowed to accrue up to five (5) days which can be taken in a continuous period.

Unused T.O. days may be carried over from one calendar year to the next. Such carry over is non-cumulative, shall not exceed five (5) days in total. Any accrued T.O. days in excess of five (5) must be taken unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.

It is the parties' mutual preference that all T.O. days be taken as time off in accordance with this Article. However, in circumstances where operational requirements have made it difficult to schedule T.O. days, the Employer shall consider written requests from employees that unused T.O. days be paid out as regular wages.

- d) Employees will request days off under this Article at least seven (7) working days in advance, and the scheduling of days off will be subject to management approval. Such time off will not take precedence over another employee's vacation leave.
- e) Employees who take a day off within any of the above shown periods and who fail to work the full period, will repay the Company the pro-rata portion of unearned entitlement for that period at the appropriate hourly rate.
- f) Employees who start work in positions which carry an entitlement to scheduled days off in accordance with this Article during one of the above shown periods, or whose time worked in such a position is only a portion of any of the above periods, will earn the appropriate pro-rata portion of the day off to be paid at the appropriate hourly rate.
- g) Time worked will exclude pregnancy or parental leave, long term disability, and any other leave without pay of more than ten (10) working days.

Part-time Regular Employees and all Temporary Employees

Part-time Regular Employees and all Temporary Employees will work the hours (or part thereof) as described in this Article, except that such employees will be paid at the appropriate hourly rate for all time worked in lieu of scheduled time off.

12.03 Variations to Hours of Work

The daily and weekly hours of work as set out in this Article may be varied during the life of the Agreement by mutual agreement of the parties.

12.04 Rest Periods

All employees shall be permitted a paid rest period of fifteen (15) consecutive minutes in the first and second half of a shift. In no case can an Employee's rest period be reduced or eliminated to reduce the standard work day in 12.01 a) above, nor can an Employee select a rest period which would result in the Employee's work day ending outside of the start/finish times in 12.01 d) above.

OVERTIME, CALL-OUTS, STANDBY & MEAL ALLOWANCES

13.01 Equitable Distribution of Overtime

Overtime shall be voluntary and shall be offered in an equitable manner among the employees in a department who are able to perform the work.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, overtime may be required in emergency situations and urgent customer service situations including, without limitation, a situation which is urgent in the opinion of the customer or broker, provided that the situation is one over which the Company had no control.

Employees shall not be required to work overtime in any circumstances where:

- a) there is another employee available who is willing and able to perform the work;
- b) the overtime requested would result in an excess of five (5) hours per week being worked;
- c) the overtime requested would cause the employee to work on more than one scheduled day off in the current calendar month; or
- d) the overtime requested for any one project would result in the employee being required to work in excess of two (2) consecutive overtime shifts in any one week.

13.02 Notification of Overtime

Employees shall be notified of any overtime requests not later than the end of the work day preceding the day on which the overtime is to be worked unless the need for the overtime could not be reasonably foreseen within this time frame.

In the event overtime is required in an emergency or urgent customer service situation and notice of the overtime request cannot be given within the normal time frame, the Company shall give the employees as much notice as is reasonable in the circumstances.

13.03 Overtime Rate Calculation and Minimum

Overtime rates will be calculated using hourly rates established in Article 11. Overtime will be calculated to the next highest fifteen (15) minutes, however, the <u>minimum</u> overtime pay for any overtime worked shall be one half hour.

13.04 Overtime Rates

All time worked in excess of the regular daily or weekly hours of work as established in Article 12 shall be paid at overtime rates as follows:

- a) Time worked prior to or following a regular shift or work day will be paid at one and one-half (1 ¹/₂) times the employee's hourly rate for the first two (2) hours of overtime and at two (2) times the employee's hourly rate thereafter. Overtime worked in excess of four (4) overtime hours per calendar week (i.e. Monday to Sunday inclusive) will be paid at two (2) times the employee's hourly rate.
- b) Time worked on a scheduled day off will be paid at two (2) times the employee's hourly rate.
- c) Time worked on holidays as set out in Article 15 and during an employee's annual vacation will be paid at two (2) times the appropriate hourly rate plus regular salary for all time worked.
- d) An employee who is requested by the Company to work overtime on a scheduled day off will be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at overtime rates but will not be paid for time spent travelling to and from <u>their</u> normal work location.
- e) Should an employee request to schedule their overtime on a scheduled day off, appropriate overtime rates will apply, but the employee will not be paid for time spent travelling to and from <u>their</u> normal work location and the minimum of four (4) hours at overtime rates as mentioned above in Article 13.04 (d) shall not apply.

13.05 Overtime Call-Out

An employee who is called out for work after <u>their</u> regular day or on a scheduled day off shall be paid for a minimum of three (3) hours and for time spent travelling to and from <u>their</u> home at the appropriate overtime rates. If the call-out period extends into an employee's regularly scheduled shift, the time spent returning to <u>their</u> home will not be paid as time worked.

13.06 Minimum Rest Periods, Call-Outs

- a) An employee who has worked overtime shall return to work on <u>their</u> next regular shift following the overtime provided <u>they</u> received eight (8) hours' rest and provided also that <u>they</u> can do so by 9:00 a.m. An employee who reports for work as required above, or whose eight (8) hours' rest period extends beyond 9:00 a.m., and therefore does not report, shall qualify for full pay for <u>their</u> regular shift.
- b) An employee who is called out and reports for work after overtime and before the expiration of <u>their</u> eight (8) hours' rest, shall receive double time (2X) payment for those hours which coincide with the working hours of <u>their</u> normal shift plus <u>their</u> regular salary for the day.
- c) Notwithstanding the above, an employee who is called out prior to the start of <u>their</u> next regular shift shall be governed by the following:
 - i) If the call-out originates more than four (4) hours prior to the next regular shift the employee will receive not less than the minimum call-out payment

as per 13.05 and will return home following the completion of the call-out period. The employee will then return to work <u>theri</u> regular shift (or portion thereof) after eight (8) hours rest provided <u>they</u> can do so by 9:00 a.m. The employee will be paid for <u>their</u> regular shift regardless of the actual time worked.

ii) If the call-out originates four (4) hours or less prior to the start of the employee's next regular shift, the employee will receive a call-out premium equal to two (2) hours pay at straight time rates, and in addition will be paid at overtime rates from the time of call-out to the start of their regular shift. The employee will remain to work their full regular shift at straight time rates, except that by agreement with the manager, an employee may return home after completing the equivalent number of hours worked on a regular shift from the start of the call-out. In such instances, any hours worked which coincide with the employee's regular shift will be paid at straight time rates, and any hours of their regular shift which are not worked will not be paid.

13.07 Meal Allowances

- a) Where an employee is required to work less than two (2) hours beyond <u>their</u> regular shift, a one-half (1/2) hour unpaid meal period will be allowed.
- b) Any employee will be paid for a one-half (1/2) hour meal period at the prevailing overtime rates, and the Company will provide a meal allowance of \$12.00 to the employee where:
 - i) the actual overtime worked, exclusive of any meal period, is two (2) hours or longer beyond the regular day or shift;
 - ii) an employee is called out and works four (4) hours' overtime;
 - iii) an employee is required to work four (4) hours' overtime beyond an overtime meal period actually taken. Where this overtime follows a regular shift, the first meal period may be taken at the employee's discretion.
- d) Where overtime work is pre-scheduled for normal days off and employees have been properly notified in advance as provided in Article 13.02, and work is to commence within two (2) hours of the normal starting time, the Company will not be required to provided lunch or pay for meal time if taken.

13.08 Banking Overtime

a) Regular employees who work overtime may transfer to an Overtime Leave Bank up to 100% of the overtime hours earned to be taken as time off in lieu of wages providing that the total number of hours transferred to the Overtime Leave Bank at any one time shall not exceed 37.5. The maximum leave taken under this Article will be 37.5 hours in any calendar year. Any banked overtime beyond this will be paid at the end of the calendar year at the rate it was earned.

Overtime leave will be subject to essential departmental requirements and it will not be unreasonably denied. It must be taken prior to any leave of absence without pay unless otherwise agreed by the parties. It will not take precedence over another employee's vacation leave.

c) Overtime leave shall be the equivalent in hours to the overtime payment entitlement, e.g., one (1) hour of overtime worked prior to or following a regular shift or work-day at time and one-half rate equals one and one-half hours paid leave.

13.09 Telephone Consultation Agreement

Where an employee is consulted by a supervisor or <u>their</u> delegate by telephone outside of <u>their</u> normal hours of work concerning a problem of work, a telephone consultation premium will be paid as follows:

- i) Pay per telephone consultation equivalent to one-half hour or the length of the call, whichever is greater, at overtime rates, for call prior to 11:00 p.m.; and one (1) hours' pay at double time for calls between 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., except as indicated in (ii) below.
- ii) If a second or successive telephone consultation takes place within one-half hour of the end of a preceding call, it will be construed as being part of the preceding call and therefore not be paid unless the combined time exceeds the minimum paid period in (i) above.
- iii) Where a telephone consultation results in a call-out as provided for in Article 13.05, overtime will commence at the outset of consultation and the first hour of the call-out will be paid at the prevailing overtime rate, or the rate provided in item (i) above, whichever is greater.

13.10 Taxi Allowance

In situations where an employee whose shift normally finishes not later than 5:00 p.m. is required to work overtime beyond 10:00 p.m., the Company will reimburse the employee for actual taxi expenses incurred in returning home. In all cases the employee will be required to verify such expenses by way of a receipt.

Page 52

ANNUAL VACATIONS

14.01 Vacation

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the provisions of this section will apply to all bargaining unit employees.

- a) Employees will indicate when they wish to take vacation for the current calendar year, and whether they wish to carry over any of their vacation entitlement into the next calendar year in accordance with Article 14.10 of this Agreement, by February 1st of the current calendar year. Employees who fail to indicate their vacation preference by February 1st will forfeit their preferential rights and unless otherwise agreed to by the manager will be required to request vacation time not less than six (6) weeks in advance of the period being requested.
- b) A vacation schedule will be prepared and posted no later than November 1st in the year preceding the applicable vacation year.
- c)
- i. Employees will accrue vacation credits between January 1st and December 31st during each year of service. Such vacation accrual will be prorated for an Employee's first year of hire. Any fraction of a day's credit will be treated as a whole day.
- All vacation credits accrued to each Employee from July 1st to December 31st, 2010 will be placed in the Employee's time bank as of January 1st, 2011. At the Employee's option, they may elect to either take a payout for the vacation credits flowing from this transition or take the vacation credits as time off between January 1st, 2011 and December 31st, 2012. Employees electing to take a payout shall be paid no later than the second pay day following ratification of this Collective Agreement. Banked vacation credits will not be scheduled until all Employees' current year's vacation accrual has been scheduled in accordance with Article 14, and will be subject to operational requirements.
- d) An employee may take vacation leave in each calendar year (January 1st to December 31st) equal to the number of vacation credits accruing to the employee during this period.

14.02 Minimum 3 Months Before Vacation

An employee may not take any vacation leave until <u>they have</u> completed three (3) months' service.

14.03 Vacation Entitlement

Vacation entitlements for all regular employees shall be as follows:

Years of Service	Vacation Days
1 st to 8 th	15
9 th to 13 th	20
14 th	21
15 th	22
16 th	23
17 th	24
18 th to 21 st	25
22 nd to 23 rd	26
24 th to 25 th	27
26 th to 27 th	28
28 th to 29 th	29
30th onwards	30

14.04 Broken and Continuous

Vacations may be taken in broken periods but normally at least one (1) week of the years' entitlement will be taken as a continuous period. Such broken periods will be subject to essential departmental requirements and such will not be unreasonably denied.

14.05 Vacation Upon Termination

- a) Any regular employee who terminates service prior to <u>their</u> first anniversary will receive 6% of gross earnings from date of hire less any pay actually received from vacation taken.
- b) Any regular employee who terminates service after the completion of <u>their</u> first anniversary and prior to the completion of <u>their</u> ninth anniversary, will be paid 6% of <u>their</u> gross earnings for the period applying to any unused portion of vacation entitlements.
- d) Any regular employee who terminates service after the completion of <u>their</u> ninth anniversary will be paid 6% of gross earnings for the period applying to any unused portion of vacation entitlements up to the date of ninth anniversary, and 8% of gross earnings for the period applying to any unused portion of vacation entitlements after <u>their</u> ninth anniversary.
- e) Any regular employee who terminates service after completion of <u>their</u> fourteenth (14th) anniversary, and prior to <u>their</u> 22nd anniversary, will be paid eight per cent (8%) of gross earnings for the period applying to any unused portion of vacation entitlements up to the date of fourteenth (14th) anniversary, and an additional .004 (or 0.4%) for each additional day of vacation entitlement earned under Article 14.03 to a maximum of ten percent (10%).
- f) Any regular employee who terminates service after the completion of <u>their 22nd</u> Anniversary will be paid ten percent (10%) of gross earnings for the period applying to any unused portion of vacation entitlements up to the date of the 22nd

Page 54

anniversary, and an additional .004 or (0.4%) for each additional day of vacation entitlement earned under Article 14.03 to a maximum of twelve percent (12%).

g) Employees who have taken vacation and were paid their full vacation credits and terminate before reaching their anniversary date for which they were allowed vacation credits, will have deducted from their final pay the difference from vacation monies received and their entitlement in accordance with this Article.

14.06 Temporary and Part-Time Regular Employees

Temporary and Part-Time regular employees shall be paid 10.4% of their gross earnings bi-weekly in lieu of annual vacation and Statutory Holiday leave.

A temporary employee who secures a regular position in the Company will accrue vacation credits from the date of hire as a regular employee. Vacation entitlement (14.03) shall be based on the employee's seniority date.

14.07 Vacation Pay Advance

An employee can draw vacation pay in advance of <u>their</u> vacation leave by submitting a written request for receipt not less that three (3) weeks in advance of the vacation period to Human Resources.

14.08 Paid Holiday Falling within the Vacation Period

Employees will receive an extra day's vacation with pay for any of the paid holidays listed in Article 15, which fall within the paid vacation period.

14.09 Disruption of Vacation Due to Illness or Bereavement

- a) An employee whose vacation leave is seriously disrupted by an illness or injury incurred after their vacation has begun may be entitled to reschedule or extend their vacation for the period of disability (but not to exceed the amount of scheduled vacation) providing that the nature and period of the disability is substantiated by a doctor's certificate and provided that the entitlement to and timing of the rescheduled or extended vacation leave is first agreed with the employee's manager. Rescheduled or extended vacation leave under this Article will not take precedence over another employee's vacation leave.
- b) An employee who becomes entitled to compassionate leave pursuant to Article 18.01 immediately prior to <u>their</u> scheduled vacation (such as to overlap with <u>their</u> vacation) may reschedule that portion of the vacation time which runs concurrently with the compassionate leave. Such rescheduled vacation will be subject to essential departmental requirements.

14.10 Vacation Carry Over

An employee must make every reasonable effort to take all of their annual vacation in the year it is earned.

At the Company's discretion and with the express permission of an employee's manager, an employee may be permitted to carry over up to five (5) days' vacation such that it will be added to the following year's vacation entitlement. Any vacation entitlement in excess of five (5) days as of December 31^{st} will be paid out at the employees current normal pay rate.

No more than once in every five (5) years of employment, an employee may elect to carry over two (2) successive years of five (5) days carry over into the third year for the purpose of taking extended vacation in that third year.

14.11 Relieving on Higher Grouped Job

- a) An employee relieving on a higher grouped job at the time <u>the employee</u> goes on vacation will be paid at the higher rate during <u>their</u> vacation providing the vacation is both preceded and followed by working time on the higher job and provided also that there is a minimum of twenty (20) working days at the higher level.
- b) If an employee is required to postpone <u>their</u> annual vacation in order to relieve on a higher level job for an uninterrupted period of not less than twenty (20) working days, <u>they</u> shall nevertheless qualify for vacation pay at the higher rate set out in (a) above.

14.12 Vacation Scheduling Limitations

Scheduling of vacations shall be subject to departmental requirements. Employees will indicate their preference for vacation periods on the basis of rotating seniority with the department and an employee's preference will not be unreasonably denied. Employees who transfer to a department after vacation periods are scheduled will be placed at the bottom of the seniority list and will not exercise their seniority position until the scheduling of the following year's vacation. Seniority preferences will be exercised amongst employees who are performing work of the same job level or pay grade or within a work area of a department and headquarter, wherever possible. For the purpose of this clause, rotating seniority is defined to mean that the individual at the top of the seniority list in any year reverts to the bottom of the list in the subsequent year.

14.13 Accrual of Vacation Credits While on Leaves

- a) Employees who are on sick leave, long term disability, or in receipt of Workers' Compensation illness or injury benefits, or any combination of the above, will accrue vacation credits for the period of absence up to a maximum of four (4) continuous months providing the employee returns to work.
- b) Employees on authorized absences other than those covered by paragraph (a) preceding will accrue vacation credits for the period of absence up to a maximum of two (2) continuous months providing the employee returns to work.

STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

15.01 Paid Holidays

a) For the purpose of this Agreement, the following days shall be paid holidays:

New Year's Day	B.C. Day
Family Day	Labour Day
Good Friday	Thanksgiving Day
Easter Monday	Remembrance Day
Victoria Day	Christmas Day
Canada Day	Boxing Day

b) In addition, any other general holiday(s) proclaimed by the Government of Canada or the Government of British Columbia will be recognized by the Company as a holiday with pay.

15.02 Date of Observance

- a) Should the Provincial or Federal Government(s) proclaim a day in lieu of any of the holidays listed in 15.01 (a), the day proclaimed shall become the holiday for the purpose of interpreting this Article.
- b) When a paid holiday falls on a Saturday and/or a Sunday, and another day is not proclaimed in lieu thereof in accordance with paragraph (a), a day off in lieu thereof will be given on a working day immediately preceding or immediately following the paid holiday, to be chosen by the Company.

15.03 Holiday Pay

An employee will receive normal straight time earnings for any holiday prescribed in this Article provided that on the working day immediately before and on the working day immediately following the holiday <u>the employee</u> was at work, on annual vacation, or an approved leave of absence not creezeding ten (10) working days.

An employee who is on sick leave either the day immediately before or the day immediately following the holiday, will receive normal straight time earnings for the holiday. Employees who are on sick leave the day immediately before and the day immediately following the holiday will be paid for the holiday under the terms of the Short Term Disability Plan.

15.04 Holiday Falling on Employee's Vacation

Any holiday described in 15.01 and 15.02, which falls in an employee's vacation period shall be recognized and an additional day off without loss of pay will be granted.

15.05 Notice of Work on a Paid Holiday

Except as may be otherwise provided by this Agreement, employees required to work on a paid holiday or a day designated in lieu thereof shall be notified by the Company of such requirement not later than fourteen (14) calendar days in advance.

15.06 Holiday Pay for Temporary and Part-Time Regular Employees

Temporary and part-time regular employees shall be paid 10.4% of their gross earnings bi-weekly, in lieu of annual vacation and Statutory Holiday leave.

15.07 Holiday Pay During Acting Appointment

An employee relieving on a higher grouped job and receiving acting pay at the time of a holiday as described in this Article will be paid at the higher rate for the holiday provided the holiday is both preceded and followed by working time on the higher job.

PAID SICK LEAVE

16.01 Purpose

All eligible employees who incur illness or injury are entitled to and shall receive paid sick leave in accordance with this Article.

16.02 Full-Time Regular Employees

- a) Except as limited in (b) following, each full-time regular employee has paid sick leave entitlement of 543 ¾ hours (75 days). A portion of this entitlement is at full pay as determined by Article 16.05 and the balance is at 75% pay. All absences due to illness or injury, heginning with the first day of absence, are charged against the employee's entitlement. When the employee has returned to work for thirty (30) calendar days since the last day of absence due to illness or injury, the employee's paid sick leave entitlement of 543 ¾ hours (75 days) is renewed and a portion of this may be at full pay as determined by any full pay entitlement that remains to the employee's credit
- b) Each full-time regular employee who is completing <u>their</u> probationary period as described in Article 6.01 (a) has a sick leave entitlement of up to seventy-two and one-half (72 ¹/₂) hours (<u>10 days</u>) at full pay, these being the same seventy-two and one-half (72 ¹/₂) hours (<u>10 days</u>) set out in 16.05 (i). All absences due to illness or injury, beginning with the first day of absence, are charged against this seventytwo and one-half (72 ¹/₂) hours entitlement. There is no further sick leave entitlement beyond this seventy-two and one-half (72 ¹/₂) hours (<u>10 days</u>) during the probationary period.

16.03 Full-Time Temporary Employees

A full-time temporary employee is not entitled to paid sick leave until <u>the employee</u> has completed <u>their</u> probationary period as described in Article 6.01 (a). After completing <u>their</u> probationary period <u>they are</u> entitled to up to seventy-two and one-half (72 ½) hours (10 days) of paid sick leave at full pay. All absences due to illness or injury after completion of <u>their</u> probationary period, beginning with the first day of absence, are charged against this seventy-two and one-half (72 ½) hours (10 days) entitlement. There is no further paid sick leave entitlement beyond this seventy-two and one-half (72 ½) hours (10 days) during the period of employment.

In the event that a full-time temporary employee secures a regular position in the Company without an effective break in service, the employee's paid sick leave entitlement on assuming that regular position will be as though they had been hired as a regular employee effective the last date of hire as a temporary employee, less any paid sick leave taken while a temporary employee. That same date (i.e., the last date of hire as a temporary employee) will be the employee's anniversary date for the purposes of improved entitlements as established in 16.05.

16.04 Part-Time Regular Employees

A part-time regular employee is entitled to the same sick leave entitlement as a full-time regular employee except that such employee's entitlement is prorated on the basis of <u>their</u> scheduled hours of work in that year as a percentage of the annual scheduled hours of work of a full-time regular employee. Coverage applies to scheduled workdays only.

16.05 Entitlement Per Years of Service .

Regular employees are entitled to the following full pay sick leave entitlements during each calendar year (prorated for part-time regular employees per 16.04).

Years of Service	Time at 100%	Time at 75%
<1 year	72.5 hours/10 days	471.25 hours/65 days
>1 year, <3 years	145 hours/20 days	398.75 hours/55 days
>3 years	217.5 hours/30 days	326.25 hours/45 days

(Calendar year is January 1 to December 31, inclusive)

A regular employee's full pay entitlement is renewed on January 1^{st} of each calendar year with such entitlement being determined by the employee's length of service on that date, except that in the case of an employee who is absent on 75% pay due to illness or injury on the last working day of the previous calendar year, renewal is deferred until the first day in the new calendar year on which the employee returns to work, and except that the renewed entitlement for a regular employee who is on probation in accordance with Article 6.01 (a) will not be effective until the employee's probationary period is complete and the employee's full pay sick leave entitlement for the new calendar year will be reduced by the amount of full pay sick leave the employee has already taken in that year.

Unused full pay entitlements may not be carried over from one calendar year to the next.

Improvements in an employee's full pay entitlement which are due to the employee achieving a corresponding length of service are effective on the appropriate anniversary date of service providing that the employee is not absent on sick leave on that date. If the employee is absent on sick leave, the increased entitlement is effective on the date of their return to work.

16.06 Maximum Sick Leave Entitlement

Regardless of the date on which full pay entitlements are renewed and/or enhanced, they cannot extend the period of paid absence beyond 543 ³/₄ hours (75 days) (prorated for part-time-regular employees) and they are not effective in the case of an employee who has exhausted <u>their</u> full sick leave entitlement until that entitlement has been renewed as a result of a return to work for thirty (30) calendar days uninterrupted due to illness or injury.

16.07 Full Pay Entitlement Definitions

"Full pay" means normal pay and includes during the first <u>145 hours (20 davs)</u> of the period of absence, any salary increase or premiums or allowances the employee was scheduled to receive, but does not include payment for any overtime hours scheduled but not worked.

16.08 Termination Limited During Sick Leave

Employees who have completed their probationary period as described in Article 6.01 (a) will not be terminated during absence due to injury or illness without the specific agreement of the Union except that this will not apply if the notice of termination precedes the date on which absence due to illness or injury commenced and when a temporary employee who is absent due to illness or injury reaches the end of <u>their</u> term of employment. Imployees who terminate while absent due to illness or injury will not be entitled to paid sick leave beyond the effective date of termination.

16.09 No Reduction of Other Disability Benefits

Except as described in Article 16.14, benefits payable under this Plan will be paid regardless of disability benefits payable by the "Employment Insurance" or by any supplementary private coverage.

16.10 Worksafe BC Benefits Augmented

Where disability benefits are payable under the Worksafe BC Act, the employee shall have their Worksafe BC. benefit augmented by the Company so as to provide 85% of the employee's normal pay. Such pay will be subject to normal company and statutory deductions.

This benefit will be payable in accordance with the following schedule:

Employee Status	Period of Entitlement
Full Time Regular Employee	543 <u>34 hours/75 days</u>
<u>Part Time Regular Employee</u>	Same entitlement as a full-time regular employee except that such employee's entitlement is prorated on the basis of their scheduled hours of work in that year as a percentage of the annual scheduled hours of work of a full-time employee.
Full Time Temporary Employee	72 1/2 hours/10 days
Part Time Temporary Employee	No Entitlement
<u>Probationary Employee</u> (as per 6,01(a))	<u>72 1/2 hours/10 days</u>

Payments under Article 16.10 shall not affect the employee's paid sick leave entitlement.

16.11 Benefit Restrictions

The following do not qualify for benefits under the Plan:

- a) The first day of absence for each separate occurrence of disability <u>(including the first day of each separate occurrence of absence pursuant to Article 18.11</u>) in excess of four (4) occurrences per calendar year. Recurring absences for regularly scheduled treatment by a qualified medical practitioner of an ongoing or prolonged illness or injury will be considered as one (1) occurrence.
- b) Pregnancy or parental leave.
- c) Disabilities occurring during leaves of absence without pay. Entitlement resumes when the designated period of such leave expires and the employee returns to work.
- d) Any absence when the employee has been suspended for just cause.
- e) Any absence where an employee is locked out or on a strike authorized by the Union.

16.12 Medical or Dental Appointments

Full-time regular employees and full-time temporary employees who have completed their probationary period, will be granted reasonable leave without loss of pay to attend medical and dental appointments which they are unable to schedule outside of working hours. Every reasonable effort should be made to schedule medical and dental appointments outside regular working hours.

In all cases, employees are required to exhaust the following options when requesting leave under this article;

- 1. <u>Employees must make a reasonable effort to schedule the appointment outside</u> of work time, including on a weekend, after hours, or on a scheduled day off (including scheduled T.O. Days)
- 2. If there is no reasonable opportunity to schedule the appointment outside of work time, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule the appointment near the start of the working day or near the end of the working day, or during lunch time to help minimize the impact in the workplace.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, time off to attend paramedical appointments (such as chiropractic, naturopathic, physiotherapy and massage therapy services) or for cosmetic procedures (including cosmetic orthodontic procedures) must be scheduled outside of regular working hours. Employees may discuss these appointments with their manager. However, managers are not required to accommodate these appointments within work hours, and the employee will always be required to make up any missed work time.

16.13 Medical Information

- a) In cases of infrequent but lengthy absences (i.e. in excess of four (4) consecutive days) due to serious illness or injury, the Company may require the employee to submit a medical certificate from the employee's own doctor to substantiate the nature, extent and duration of the illness or injury. In such instances, the cost of the medical certificate will be borne by the Company. The Company may also require a second medical opinion, the costs of which shall be borne by the Company.
- b) In cases where it can be demonstrated that an employee is absent due to illness or injury substantially in excess of other employees in the bargaining unit, the Company may require the employee to offer a satisfactory explanation for <u>their</u> absence, including a medical certificate from the employee's own doctor. The Company may also require a second qualified medical opinion, the costs of which shall be borne by the Company.
- c) The Company may require a medical certificate(s) confirming the employee's fitness to return to work after a serious injury or prolonged illness. The cost of such medical certificate(s), if any, will be borne by the Company. The Company may also require a second qualified medical opinion, the costs of which shall be borne by the Company.
- d) The Company and the Union have agreed to co-operate in preventing improper ntilization of the sick leave program and where the Company has reasonable grounds to believe that an employee is improperly utilizing the program, the employee will be required to substantiate <u>their</u> absence with medical certificate(s) signed by <u>their</u> own doctor. The employee may also be required to undergo a medical examination by a doctor selected by the Company, the costs of which shall be borne by the Company.
- e) If an employee is required to undergo an independent medical examination (IME) by a doctor selected by the Company, a copy of the Company's notice to the employee of such requirement shall be delivered simultaneously to the Union and such notice shall identify the applicable subsection(s) of this Article.
- f) An employee who is required to submit a medical certificate will be given adequate notice to secure it.

16.14 Sick Leave Recovery

An employee may use sick leave entitlements for time lost through accidental injuries (other than WCB claims, as provided for in Article 16.10). Should an employee, who is in receipt of paid sick leave benefits as a result of such injuries, commence an action for damages against a third party as a result of accidental injuries and should that action result in a successful claim for lost wages, the employee will reimburse the Company the full amount of the sick leave benefit paid by the Company or the full amount of the successful claim against the third party for lost wages, whichever is less. The company will credit the employee with the equivalent number of sick days, upon receipt of the funds.

WELFARE BENEFIT PLANS

17.01 Welfare Benefit Program

The Company shall provide a welfare benefit program consistent with the benefits and options currently provided to all RSA employees and which shall include coverage for BC MSP insurance, extended health & dental insurance, AD&D insurance (including employee paid optional coverage) and access to an employee assistance program (the "RSA Welfare Benefit Program").

17.02 Coverage While on Leave Without Pay

- a) Employees who are on leave of absence without pay (excluding <u>pregnancy and</u> <u>parental</u> leave) in excess of one (1) calendar month are required to reimburse the Company for the total premium cost of all welfare plans on a month-to-month basis in advance. Employees who fail to reimburse the Company pursuant to this provision may have their coverage terminated by the Company.
- b) Employees who commence <u>pregnancy and/or parental</u> leave will have their coverage continued for medical, dental and extended health, and basic group life benefits at no cost to the employees, for the duration of the <u>pregnancy and/or parental</u> leave as defined in the Employment Standards Act. Such employees will be required to reimburse the Company for the above premiums for the period of maternity leave which goes beyond the duration defined in the Employment Standards Act. Such employees will also be required to reimburse the Company for premium costs associated with voluntary group life and accidental death and dismemberment (if enrolled in these Plans), and long term disability. In addition, employees may continue to make regular pension plan contributions (if enrolled).

17.03 Coverage While on Leave With Pay

Employees who are off work on leave of absence with pay, short term disability, long term disability, or on Worksafe BC Benefits, will continue to receive coverage under the Welfare Benefit Program referenced in Article 17.01 at no cost to the employee.

17.04 Coverage During Labour Dispute

Employees who are absent because of a labour dispute, including a strike or lockout, will have their coverage under this Article continued but the employees are required to reimburse the Company for the full cost of premiums for the period.

Should such dispute last in excess of fourteen (14) calendar days, the parties affected will meet and agree on a procedure acceptable to the Company for reimbursing the Company for such premiums.

17.05 No Coverage While on Lay-Off

Employees on layoff will not be covered by the welfare benefits of this Agreement.

Page 64
17.06 Long Term Disability Plan

- a) All full-time regular employees are required to participate in the Long Term Disability Plan upon the completion of the required qualifying period.
- b) The terms and conditions of the Plan shall be determined by the Union, subject to a waiting period consistent with the Short Term Disability Plan.
- c) The cost of the Plan will be paid 100% by the employees.
- d) The Company will withhold the appropriate premiums through payroll deductions and remit same to the designated carrier in a manner prescribed by the carrier.

17.07 Annual Benefit Statement

The Company will provide an annual benefit summary report to each employee. In addition, the Company will provide up-to-date benefit summary booklets and/or alternative information resources ("Plan Summaries"), in hard copy or electronic form.

The Plan Summaries are not incorporated into the Collective Agreement. Rather, the purpose of the Plan Summaries is to explain the basic elements of the plans in simple language as clearly as possible. There are various details, requirements and restrictions which can only be dealt with in the full text of the applicable plans, which will govern their actual administration and application.

17.08 Pension Committee

- a) All regular bargaining unit employees will be covered by the Pension Plan described as the Retirement Plan for Bargaining Unit Employees of the Canadian Northern Shield Insurance Company.
- b) One member of the Pension Committee to oversee the Pension Plan noted above shall be appointed by the Union and shall be an actively employed member of the Canadian Office & Professional Employees' Union, Local 378.

17.09 Maintenance of Welfare Benefit Plans

- a) The Company and Union will jointly review the Benefit Plans on a bi-annual basis or at the request of either Party with the intent of ensuring that the benefit plan coverage continues to meet the needs of the employees without incurring significant premium increases for the employer. The parties will work in partnership to educate and inform employees on the use and value of the Benefit Plans.
- b) Coverage may be provided through an alternative carrier, however the equivalent benefits and benefit entitlements as provided by the RSA Welfare Benefit Program in effect at the date of ratification shall remain in effect throughout the term of this Agreement.

17.10 Benefits Upon Retirement

Upon retirement, an Employee shall be eligible to maintain coverage for the Extended Health and Dental plans in accordance with Article <u>17</u>, <u>subject to the terms</u>, <u>conditions and</u> <u>coverage limitations/restrictions as set out in the applicable plans as they apply to retirees</u>. The premiums <u>and any increases in the premiums</u> for this coverage shall be paid by the retired Employee. Any increases in premiums for these benefits for current Employees shall also apply to the retired Employee's benefit premiums, and be paid by the retired Employee.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE

18.01 Compassionate Leave (Bereavement)

Compassionate leave of absence without loss of pay shall be granted to regular employees (and temporary employees who have accumulated more than three (3) months' service with the Company) – who are otherwise scheduled to be at work – in accordance with the following provisions:

- up to five (5) days (i.e., one work week) in the event of a death of a spouse, son, daughter, mother, father, sister, brother or step-child.
- up to three (3) work days in the event of a death of a father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, legal guardian or permanent resident of the employee's home.

The Company may, at its discretion, grant further compassionate leave, contingent on the circumstances.

18.02 Special Leave

Any regular employee (or temporary employee who has accumulated more than three (3) months' service with the Company) will be entitled to reasonable leave without loss of pay for legitimate and unavoidable personal reasons which will include but shall not be limited to:

- serious household or domestic emergency.
- attend funeral as pallbearer or mourner.
- attend <u>their</u> formal hearing to become a Canadian citizen.
- full period of any quarantine.
- moving household furniture and effects when it is not possible to move on a weekend or scheduled day off, except that such leave with pay will not be allowed more than once in any twelve (12) month period, however, an employee may be granted such leave of absence without pay in circumstances where the employee is not eligible for such leave with pay.

As well, leave of <u>absence</u> for <u>other legitimate</u> personal reasons acceptable to the Company may be granted where such reasons involve unavoidable and unforesceable circumstances, which could not be anticipated and which therefore require the employee's absence.

18.03 Court Leave

When a regular employee, other than employees on Leave of Absence without pay, is summoned to Jury Duty, subpoended as a witness, or representing the Company in <u>their</u> official capacity, leave of Absence with pay will be granted provided such court action is not occasioned by the employee's private affairs.

Where court action is occasioned by the employee's private affairs, Leave of Absence without pay will be granted.

Time spent at court by an employee in <u>ther</u> official capacity shall be at the appropriate rate of pay.

18.04 Examination Leave

A regular employee who writes a final course or year-end examination during or immediately following a regularly scheduled work shift will be entitled to reasonable time off to write the examination, subject to operational requirements. An employee who completes the writing of an examination not less than three (3) working hours prior to the end of <u>their</u> shift will be expected to return to work.

In addition, such an employee will be entitled to leave of four (4) working hours without loss of pay on the last working day prior to the <u>examination</u> leave, in order to prepare for the examination, provided the examination is in connection with a training course which falls under one of the categories described in Article 20.03(a) and 20.03(b).

18.05 Pregnancy, Parental and Adoption Leave

A pregnant regular employee shall be eligible for up to seventeen (17) weeks pregnancy leave to be taken in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act. At the request of the employee, the Company will provide the employee with a written statement of conditions applying to the requested leave.

A regular employee who utilizes the pregnancy leave will be eligible for a further thirtyfive (35) weeks of unpaid parental leave in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act. If a regular employee has not utilized the above mentioned pregnancy leave, or if they are a birthing father, or adoptive parent, they will be eligible for unpaid parental leave of up to thirty-seven (37) weeks to be taken in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.

Notification of the leave request must be provided to the Company 4 weeks prior to the desired leave date.

An employee desiring to return to work following pregnancy, parental or adoption leave shall notify the Company no later than four weeks prior to the desired date of return. On return from this leave, the employee will be reinstated in <u>their</u> former position and receive the same salary and benefits as <u>they</u> received prior to such leave including any general salary increases and benefit changes which occurred during the period that <u>the employee</u> was on leave.

In the event the employee's spouse is an employee of the Company, the leave provisions will be available to only one of the two employees.

18.06 Public Office

Leave of absence without pay will be granted to employees who:

- i) Run for elected office municipal, provincial, federal.
- ii) Are elected to public office.

18.07 Leave Without Pay Intitlement

Subject to departmental requirements an employee who has completed two (2) years of continuous service will be allowed up to ten (10) consecutive working days leave without pay in any calendar year upon request, and an employee's request will not be unreasonably denied. Such leave will not take precedence over another employee's vacation leave.

18.08 General Leave Without Pay

Notwithstanding any provision for leave in this Agreement, an employee may be granted leave of absence without pay provided their reason for leave is satisfactory to the Company.

18.09 Military Leave

Up to two (2) weeks leave of absence per year will be granted to regular employees in order to attend Canadian Armed Forces (Reserve) Training Camps. Employees having such requirements will make their request for such leave known to their manager at the earliest possible time so as not to conflict with the department's annual vacation scheduling. During such leaves the employee's pay will be topped up to yield 100% of their normal salary with the Company.

18.10 Educational Leave

Employees who have completed five (5) years of service with the Company will be granted up to one (1) year leave of absence without pay to undertake courses or studies to enhance their present and future career prospects with the Company. Such leave will be subject to the following conditions:

- a) the employee will make <u>their</u> leave request known to <u>their</u> manager not less than six (6) weeks prior to the anticipated <u>commencement</u> date.
- b) upon notification of a request for such leave, the Company may proceed to fill the resultant job vacancy on a permanent basis.
- c) the employee will have the right to apply for job bulletins and/or submit a standing application for job vacancies in the Company and will receive consideration as a regular employee. In such instances, the employee must be available to return to work within thirty (30) calendar days of notification of being the successful applicant in a job competition. For the purposes of job application and subsequent reinstatement, the employee's seniority will be calculated as at the date they commenced their educational leave.
- d) an employee who is on <u>educational</u> leave will be deemed terminated if <u>they</u>:
 - i) fails to apply for a position and/or fails to submit and maintain a standing application for a job in the Company within one (1) month of completing their educational leave.

OT

ii) fails to secure a regular position in the Company within twelve (12) months of completing their educational leave.

or

- iii) secures a full-time regular position with another employer while on educational leave.
- e) an employee who returns to work at the completion of <u>their</u> educational leave will not be eligible to request another educational leave until <u>they have</u> completed a further five (5) years of service with the Company.

f) All of the terms and conditions shall apply except the Company will grant up to two (2) years of leave of absence without pay in the event the employee has been accepted to follow the Vancouver Community College General Insurance Diploma Program. The leave of absence will be curtailed in accordance with the length of the Program.

To maintain this leave of absence the employee will provide proof of successful completion of each term and enrolment in the next.

18.11 Family Care Leave

All full-time regular employees may utilize their sick leave entitlement to attend to family illness and/or medical and dental appointments, up to a maximum of five (5) days per calendar year. Time off will be paid in accordance with eligible sick entitlements. Such paid time off work may be taken at one (1) time or in any increments of one (1) or more full days at the employee's option. Family shall be defined as in Article 18.12

18.12 Critical Care or Elder Care Leave

a. Employees who have completed not less than three (3) years of continuous service with the Company will be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months, for the purposes of attending to the long term care needs of an immediate family member who is suffering from a serious illness. Immediate family member is defined as: a spouse, common law spouse, mother, father; sister, brother, son, daughter, stepchild, grandparent, grandchild, or legal guardian or a person who has been a permanent resident of the employee's home for a minimum of one year. At the sole discretion of the Company the 3 years continuous service requirements may be waived.

The following conditions must apply:

- 1. The employee must be actively employed at the time <u>their</u> leave of absence is to commence, and it may not be combined with any other unpaid leave provisions.
- 2. The employee will make <u>their</u> leave request known to <u>their</u> manager not less than six (6) weeks prior to the anticipated commencement date, unless the circumstances are such that sufficient notice could not be provided. This request will include the desired duration of the leave; identification of the family member requiring long term care; and the nature of the illness.
- 3. Where the duration of leave exceeds six (6) months the Union will agree to the extended placement of a temporary employee for the duration of leave. This temporary employee will not be eligible for benefits as provided in Article 6.04 c)
- 4. Upon return to active employment the employee will be reinstated into <u>their</u> former position.

- 5. The employee will be paid out for all earned paid leave entitlements at the commencement of <u>their</u> leave, and will re-commence accrual for such leave entitlements upon return to active employment. Where the employee's leave exceeds six (6) months in duration, the employee, at <u>their</u> option, may receive these payouts on a graduated basis. These payments would be made no more than once per month with a maximum of 6 payments being made.
- 6. The employee will be entitled to continued coverage of basic medical, and extended health benefits, dental and group life insurance during the period of leave, provided the employee does not obtain similar coverage through other means and subject to the Company being reimbursed for the full costs of such benefits on a month-to-month basis in advance. The employee will not be entitled to paid sick leave for the period of absence until such time as the employee returns to active employment.
- 7. An employee who is on leave for the purposes described above will have resigned if <u>they</u>:

-fails to return to work within two (2) weeks of completing <u>their</u> leave without providing acceptable reason to the Company; or undertakes alternate employment.

- 8. Four (4) weeks prior to the expiration of the leave, the employee will inform the Company of <u>their</u> intent to return to work. In the event the employee wishes to return before the expiry of <u>their</u> leave <u>they</u> will provide the Company with a minimum of two (2) weeks notice.
- 9. Only in exceptional circumstances and at the sole discretion of the Company, will consideration be given to a subsequent request for similar leave within two (2) years.

18.13 Domestic Violence Leave

The Employer recognizes that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance and performance at work. An Employee who is experiencing domestic violence will be granted Domestic Violence Leave for attendance to medical appointments, legal proceedings and any other necessary activities. In circumstances where the Employee is able to anticipate the need for such leave, the Employee will provide as much advance notice to the Employer as reasonably possible. An employee on Domestic Violence Leave may utilize up to 10 days of their entitlement to paid sick leave which may be taken as consecutive or single days or as a fraction of a day, with prior approval from the Employee's manager. Additional unpaid Domestic Violence Leave will not be unreasonably denied.

18.14 Gender Transition Leave

An Employee who provides a certificate from a medical practitioner confirming that the Employee requires a leave of absence in order to undergo gender transition will be granted a leave for the procedure required during the transition period. The Employee must provide as much advance notice as reasonably possible of the need for such leave. The provisions of that leave will follow Article 16 Paid Sick Leave. Additional unpaid leave will not be unreasonably denied.

The Union the Employer and the Employee will work together to tailor the general transition plan to the Employee's needs and accommodate the Employee up to the point of undue hardship for the Employer. The Employer will ensure it enforces its harassment free work environment and not accept any discriminating actions.

ARTICLE 19

MOVING, TRAVELLING, SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

19.01 Headquarters and Departments

- a) Each employee will have an established headquarter which will be the location where the employee normally works, reports for work, or the location to which <u>the</u> <u>employee</u> returns between jobs and will be a permanently established Company place of business unless otherwise <u>specifically</u> agreed by the parties. Under this clause the homes of resident adjusters will be considered the established headquarters for those employees and classifications in the absence of a permanent Company office. (Reference 8.03 (h)).
- b) In the event of a lack of space in a headquarter the Company establishes a satellite office in a separate building then for purposes of this article the satellite office shall be considered one and the same as the headquarter office and employees at the satellite office will have the same access to job postings as if they were in the headquarter office.
- c) The departments as at the date of signing this Agreement are:
 - Claims
 - Corporate Services
 - Commercial Insurance
 - Personal Insurance
 - Information Services

The Company will advise the Union in writing of any changes to this list as they occur. All other references to "department" in this Agreement relate to the organizational unit reporting to the first level of management.

19.02 General Provisions - Transportation and Travel Time

a) Transportation – General

i) Unless otherwise <u>specifically</u> limited below, employees (other than those employees who have assigned vehicles) who are required to travel on Company business will be provided with transportation by the Company at no cost to the employee except that employees may utilize their personal vehicle subject to the conditions outlined in Article 19.05.

Employees who are away from their established headquarters and are utilizing a Company vehicle will be entitled to use such vehicle for reasonable personal use after regular working hours.

ii) The Company will provide studded snow tires and survival kits in company vehicles upon request when such vehicles are to be operated east and north of Hope in British Columbia.

b) Travel Time - General

Unless otherwise established in this Agreement, all time spent in travel prior to or after regular hours or on scheduled days off excluding time spent in daily travel to and from the employee's established headquarter to work their regular work schedule will be paid as time worked.

19.03 Commercial Travel

The Company will pay <u>travel costs</u> where required for employees travelling on Company business <u>in accordance with RSA's Travel and Expenses Policy</u>. All time spent travelling and waiting for connections for public transportation will be paid as time worked except that when an employee is provided with accommodation at <u>their</u> place of departure such pay shall not start until the employee is required to depart <u>their</u> place of accommodation to catch the scheduled transportation. Pay for travel time on a day on which no work is performed will be limited to a day's pay at the prevailing rate.

19.04 Travel - Involving No Change in Lodging

Employees who are required to report to a temporary headquarter which does not involve any change in lodging will be reimbursed for additional transportation cost incurred or be provided with transportation by the Company and will have the difference in travelling time in excess of that which they normally spend reporting to or returning from their established headquarter and their residence paid as time worked.

19.05 Personal Vehicles

Employees who elect and who are permitted by the Company to use their personal vehicles in lieu of transportation supplied by the Company shall receive <u>a per km 'mileage</u> <u>reimbursement' in accordance with RSA's Travel and Expenses Policy.</u>

In the event of an accident occurring while the employee is using <u>their</u> personal vehicle on Company business, the Company will reimburse the employee three hundred (\$300) on the deductible portion of <u>their</u> insurance, subject to such cost actually being incurred.

19.06 Expense Claims

Employees travelling on Company business or working away from their established headquarter will be reimbursed for reasonable expenses <u>including accommodation and</u> <u>meal expenses in accordance with RSA's Travel and Expense Policy. As per the policy, all expenses must be supported by receipts.</u>

19.07 Monetary Advances

Employees will receive monetary advances on request when travelling or incurring expenses on Company business.

19.08 Moving Expenses

Full-time regular employees will be reimbursed for moving expenses when the employee's established headquarter is changed for reasons set out in 19.08 (a) or 19.08 (b).

Moving expenses will be paid in accordance with 19.09 (a) (full expenses) or 19.09 (b) (limited expenses) when all of the following conditions have been met:

- i) The employee must be moving from, and to, a full-time regular position; and
- ii) The employee must actually incur a change in residence; and
- iii) The new headquarter must be further from the original residence than was the previous headquarter, and
- iv) The new headquarter must be more than twenty (20) road miles away from the original residence; and
- v) The new residence must be closer to the new headquarter than is the old residence to the new headquarter, and
- vi) The employee must initiate <u>their</u> move to the new residence within three (3) months of moving to <u>their</u> new headquarter, and
- vii) The employee must submit <u>their</u> claim for all moving expenses, including supporting documentation, within twelve (12) months of moving to <u>their</u> new headquarter, unless a longer period is agreed to in writing by the <u>Manager</u>, Human Resources.
- a) Full moving expenses will be paid in accordance with 19.09(a), where the change in headquarter results from:
 - i) The location of the employee's headquarter being changed by the Company, except as limited by 19.08 (c).
 - ii) A move as a result of the employee being displaced under Article 9 Technological and Procedural Change.
 - iii) A move as a result of the employee receiving a promotion under Article 7 except as limited under 19.08 (b) (iii).
- b) Limited moving expenses will be paid in accordance with 19.09 (b) where the change in headquarter results from:
 - i) A move as a result of the employee being displaced under Article 8 Layoff and Recall.
 - ii) A move as a result of the employee voluntarily transferring to a job of equal or lower salary level under the terms of Article 7. Unless otherwise agreed by the Company, employees in such instances will not receive any moving expenses if they have less than five (5) years continuous service or if they have received a move paid by the Company in the preceding five (5) years.
 - iii) A move as a result of an employee receiving a promotion under Article 7 into any salary group seven (7) and below, (excluding Telephone Adjusters).

- c) An employee whose change in headquarter results from a transfer or demotion due to inadequate performance will not be entitled to moving expenses unless otherwise agreed by the Company.
 - i) When a change in the location of the headquarter occurs to reduce overall office space lease costs or due to the expiry of an office space lease, employees at that headquarter will not be entitled to moving expenses unless otherwise agreed by the Company.
 - ii) In the case of the Vancouver Headquarter, 19.08c, (i) shall apply provided the new headquarter is within a region including West Vancouver, North Vancouver, Coquitlam, Port Coquitlam, Pitt Meadows, Langley, Surrey and Delta.
 - iii) In the case of the Kelowna headquarters 19.08c, (i) shall apply provided the new headquarter is within an area serviced by public transit.
- d) The employee who receives limited moving expenses as a result of a voluntary transfer to a job of equal or lower salary level will reimburse the Company for all moving expenses received in those instances where the employee voluntarily leaves the employment of the Company within one (1) year of the date of the move.
- 19.09 Moving Expense Definitions
- a) Full Expenses are defined as follows:

Moving

- i) Costs of:
 - packing and unpacking of household furniture and equipment;
 - mover's charge;
 - insurance against damage to household effects in transit;
 - legal expenses incurred in connection with a purchase of a house at a new location;
 - storage of household furniture and equipment which is being moved to the employee's new residence for up to one month, or for such longer period as may be approved by the Manager, Human Resources, or <u>their</u> designate.
- ii) Providing any claim hereunder is supported by receipted vouchers, the Company will pay an amount not exceeding four hundred (\$400.00) for incidental expenses. These incidental expenses include cost of cleaning existing residence, disconnecting and reconnecting appliances, altering rugs or drapes.
- iii) The employee will be responsible for:
 - making arrangements for the move, for securing at least two competitive bids, for the selection of a reputable carrier, and prior to signing the contract, submitting the quotation for approval to the Manager, Human Resources, or designate.
 - Placing of the insurance on their household effects in transit.
 - Obtaining reimbursement from carriers to any damage to effects in transit.

Home Disposal

i) Rental Premises

Under this provision, the Company will guarantee to the employee or their landlord:

- payment of the rental at their old location until the lease is terminated or a sublet arranged, whichever occurs first.
- Payment of any bonus or cancellation fee to the landlord, providing it is approved in advance.
- ii) Owned Premises
 - Real Estate Commission:

Earned real estate commission relating to the sale of the employee's principal residence, not exceeding seven percent (7%) of the selling price, shall be paid by the Company. Where there is established by the local real estate board a customary commission in excess of seven percent (7%) of the selling price for residential property, prior written approval for any amount in excess of seven percent (7%) must be obtained from the Company.

Mortgage Interest and Property Taxes:

Where the employee is selling a principal residence and purchasing another principal residence and where the sale and purchase of these residences overlaps such that mortgage interest and property taxes are being paid temporarily on both residences the Company will pay to the employee the mortgage interest and property taxes on one of these principal residences subject to the following conditions:

- the Company's payments will apply to the period beginning with the <u>commencement</u> of duplicate mortgage interest and property tax payments and ending when the duplicate payments end or when three months (3) have expired, whichever is the earlier; and
- the Company's payment will apply to the principal residence where the sum of mortgage interest and property taxes is lower and will be the actual amount of such interest and mortgage property taxes subject to a maximum of five hundred (\$500) per month (or a pro-rata portion thereof in the case of part month(s), and
- the employee will support <u>their</u> claim for payment with documentation which confirms both the existence of duplicate mortgage interest and property tax payments and the amounts of same.
- Definition of Principal Residence:

The employee's principal residence shall be that property owned by the employee, their spouse or jointly, used for permanent living accommodation and considered to be their mailing address. This definition specifically excludes summer cottages, business ventures such as apartments, rented quarters or business establishments.

Travelling and Living Expenses

The Company will pay all reasonable charges for:

- i) Transportation of entire family via air, rail or car. If the employee's own car is used, standard mileage rates will prevail. This includes meals, lodging enroute and normal living expenses.
- ii) In the event that the employee precedes <u>their</u> family to the new location, the Company will pay <u>their</u> personal living expenses for a reasonable period required to find reasonable living accommodation.
- 19.10 Limited Moving Expenses
- a) Limited Expenses are defined as follows:

Moving

i) Costs of:

- packing and unpacking of household furniture and equipment.
- mover's charges.
- insurance against damage to household effects in transit.
- ii) Providing any claim hereunder is supported by receipted vouchers, the Company will pay an amount not exceeding four hundred (\$400.00) for incidental expenses. These incidental expenses include cost of cleaning existing residence, disconnecting and reconnecting appliances, altering rugs or drapes.
- iii) The employee will be responsible for:
 - making arrangements for the move, for securing at least two competitive bids, for the selection of a reputable carrier, and prior to signing the contract, submitting the quotation for approval to the Manager, Human Resources, or designate.
 - placing of the insurance on <u>their</u> household effects in transit.
 - obtaining reimbursement from carriers for any damage to effects in transit.

Travelling and Living Expenses

- b) The Company will pay all reasonable charges for:
- i) Transportation of entire family via air, rail or car. If the employee's own car is used, standard mileage rates will prevail. This includes meals, lodging enroute and normal living expenses.

In the event that the employee precedes <u>their</u> family to the new location, the Company will pay <u>their</u> personal living expenses for a reasonable period required to find reasonable living accommodation.

19.11 Special Allowances

- a) Employees who are required to have a facility in a language other than English will receive a premium equivalent to a one step increase in their regular monthly salary.
- b) A payroll deduction plan for insurance premiums arising from personal insurance coverage issued to the employee, by the Company, to cover the employee and <u>their</u> immediate family's personal property is available.
- c) The Company agrees to maintain the present practice with regard to Insurance Institute membership fees and bonus payments, as follows:

Associateship Program

- i) \$35.00 for each course successfully completed
- ii) with honors, an additional bonus of \$35.00
- iii) on completion of the program, \$350.00 bonus

Fellowship Program

- i) \$70.00 for each course successfully completed
- ii) with honours, an additional bonus of \$70.00
- iii) on completion of the program, \$700.00 bonus

19.12 Travelling Less Than 15 Minutes

It is understood and agreed that in negotiating Article 19.04 of the Collective Agreement, the parties recognize that there should be reasonable give and take between the employees and the Company and therefore employees will not claim for daily travelling differences which are fifteen (15) minutes or less.

19.13 First Aid Certificate Allowance

The Company will provide compensation at the premium rate of seventy-two (\$.72) cents per hour (this amount will be increased by the amount of all negotiated general salary increases on the dates they become effective) to two employees that volunteer for, and are designated as the two Worksafe BC Certified Industrial First Aid Ticket Holders, hereafter called the "Ticket Holders". Compensation will be paid monthly utilizing the formula in Article 11.02 and 11.03 to convert to a monthly or bi-weekly equivalent.

It is understood that the two designated Ticket Holders will not have overlapping vacation periods. The Company will maintain a current list of "Ticket Holders" and provide a copy of same, upon request to the Union. This list must be upgraded at the time of additions or deletions.

ARTICLE 20

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

20.01 Purpose

It is the general intent of this Agreement that a policy of promotion from within will be followed throughout the Company and to this end the Company will, where practical, assist all employees to develop their capacities to maximum degree possible in line with their present and future careers. This assistance may be in the form of financial aid or onthe-job training in accordance with the following provisions; however, provision of training assistance does not imply any promise or obligation to promote.

An employee wishing to take the benefits of this Article must submit a written application for such benefits and receive Company approval prior to enrollment in such course. Application for training assistance will be made through the employee's department manager. Such applications will be in writing and will set out the details of the proposed course(s).

20.02 Joint Training Committee

There shall be a Joint Training Committee consisting of one (1) representative of Management and one (1) employee representative designated by the Union. The Committee shall function on a continuing basis and shall meet at least two (2) times per year, and at any other times the Committee deems necessary.

The Joint Training Committee shall consider and review: training needs of employees and career planning; trends in education and employee development; and any other training issues. In addition, the Committee shall review upon application of an affected employee(s) the reasons for denial of a request for training and make such recommendation as may be appropriate under the circumstances to the Manager, Human Resources regarding its findings. Such recommendations shall be in writing with a copy to the Union and the affected employee(s).

The Committee will meet during working hours and such time will be paid as time worked.

20.03 Financial Aid, Training Courses

Employees may apply for financial assistance to undertake a course of outside training. The degree of financial aid assumed by the Company will depend upon the circumstances. In general, the Company will provide for categories of financial aid as follows:

- a) Full cost of training will be borne by the Company where training is at the direction of Management and carries the appropriate approval.
- b) The Company will reimburse the full cost of books and tuition fees and such other expenses as may be approved by the Company of any course where such training is directly related to the employee's job. The Company will make full reimbursement to the employee upon the successful completion of each term in the case of courses lasting more than one (1) year.

- c) The Company will reimburse fifty percent (50%) of the full cost of books and tuition fees of any course approved by the Company where such training could be of future use to the employee in working for the Company. The Company will make such reimbursement to the employee upon the successful completion of the course.
- d) <u>Approval for training and reimbursement pursuant to subsections (a), (b) and (c)</u> of this <u>Article shall be at the Company's sole discretion</u>.
- e) i) On presentation of proof of expenses for books and tuition fees, the Company shall pay to the employee the costs of any course approved by the Company as specified in this Article.
 - ii) In the event the employee does not obtain a passing grade after twelve (12) months of obtaining course expenses, then the employer shall have the monies advanced deducted from the employee's salary in twelve (12) equal bi-weekly installments.
 - iii) In the event the employee terminates employment prior to showing successful completion of the course, then the Company shall have the full amount of the monies advanced deducted from the employee's salary.

20.04 Insurance Institute Education

The Company will reimburse 100% of Insurance Institute Membership fees when membership is required for Insurance Institute course enrollment. The Company will also reimburse 100% of Fellowship course registration fees required by the Insurance Institute.

Upon successful completion of an Insurance Institute course the employee will receive a bonus payment. (refer to Article 19.10c).

20.05 Underwriter Trainces

a) Internal <u>Selection</u>

Underwriter Trainees selected from within the <u>Bargaining</u> Unit will be entitled to all the provisions of the Collective Agreement during the twenty-four (24) month training period, except that salary progress during this period will be as follows:

- i) Unless otherwise provided for in the Collective Agreement, no employee entering the programme will receive salary in excess of Step 5 of Salary Group 7. Selected incumbents whose salary is equal to or in excess of Step 5 Salary Group 6 will receive no increments (as described below) for the duration of the twenty-four (24) month training programme. The employee's length of service date will be adjusted to reflect the date of successful completion of the training programme.
- ii) Internally selected incumbents not covered by paragraph (i) preceding will have their salary increased by a pro-rata portion of their next length of service increase, or will be paid a minimum of Step 1 Salary Group 5 (as defined in Appendix "B" of the Collective Agreement) whichever is greater.
- iii) Upon successful completion of six (6) months of the training programme, Incumbents will receive 105% of Step 1, Salary Group 5, or remain at their current salary, whichever is greater.

- iv) Upon successful completion of twelve (12) months of the training programme, incumbents will receive 110.25% of Step 1, Salary Group 5, or remain at their current salary, whichever is greater.
- v) Upon successful completion of eighteen (18) months of the training programme, incumbents will receive 115.76% of Step 1, Salary Group 5, or remain at their current salary whichever is greater.
- vi) Upon successful completion of the twenty-four (24) month training programme, incumbents will be classified as Underwriters (in Salary Group 7) and will receive a length of service increase, based on a one salary group promotion from 115.76% of Step 1, Salary Group 5 (as outlined in Article 11.08 of the Collective Agreement) or remain at their current salary, whichever is greater. Incumbents will thereafter progress along the salary scale in the normal manner, as defined in Article 11.06 of the Collective Agreement.

2. Outside Hires

Underwriter Trainees hired outside of the Bargaining Unit will be entitled to all of the provisions of this Collective Agreement, except as amended by the following provisions:

a) Definition of Benefit Limitations

New hires shall be considered probationary for a period of six (6) months, and during such probationary period the following benefit limitations will apply:

- i) shall not attain seniority until completion of the probationary period,
- ii) May be terminated with two (2) days notice or pay in lieu of notice in the first four (4) months, or ten (10) days notice or pay in lieu of notice in the fifth (5th) to sixth (6th) month, and will not be considered laid off or have any rights of recall.
- iii) shall not be entitled to benefits under Technological and Procedural Change.
- iv) shall not be eligible to apply for other positions within the Bargaining Unit unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties.
- v) shall be eligible for all welfare benefits as set out in the Collective Agreement, upon completion of three (3) months or sixty (60) days, whichever shall last occur.

b) Salary Progression of Outside Hires

Outside hires will start at Step 1 of the Salary Group 5 (in Appendix "B" of the Collective Agreement) and will receive a 5% increment after successful completion of six (6) months, twelve (12) months, and eighteen (18) months of the training programme. Upon successful completion of the full programme (24 months) incumbents will receive a length of service increase (pro-rated from the date of their last increment) plus a 5% increment of the product. Incumbents will thereafter progress along the salary scale in the normal manner as defined in Article 11.06.

3. Orientation and Training

The Company will provide the Underwriter Trainces with a formal orientation and training program which will involve on-the-job instruction and orientation.

4. Expedited Placement

Internally selected incumbents with experience relative to the Underwriting position will be placed at a point on the trainee programme giving recognition for that experience and education.

5. <u>Placement</u>

Upon successful completion of the aforementioned training programme, Underwriter Trainees will be classified to the position of Underwriter. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, Underwriter Trainees will not be eligible to apply for lateral transfers during the period they are classified as Trainees.

6. Recruitment

Where the Company recruits Underwriter Trainees it shall do so by way of a job posting and competition in accordance with Article 7.06.

7. Point of Emphasis

All salary rates and salary progression processes described herein are based on the currently established job classifications and salary structure and maybe subject to revision by the parties in the event of changes to either of these factors.

It is understood that Trainees shall not be paid compensation for time spent on Insurance Institute Courses or equivalent education, except as specified in Article 18.04, Examination Leave.

20.06 Cooperative Education, General Insurance Program

A committee will be formed to investigate arrangements already in place with other employers designed to facilitate student employment as part of a cooperative education program. The information received will be used to create an agreement which is applicable exclusively to the Vancouver Community College General Insurance Diploma Program. The recommendation of the committee shall include details of the compensation to be provided students completing work terms at CNS and will be submitted to the parties within four (4) months of the parties achieving a Collective Agreement.

The following provisions will be included in the recommendation:

The Company may employ one (1) student for one (1) four (4) month work term per calendar year. The work terms shall be offered in the following order.

a) If there is a Company employee on educational leave for this program they shall be offered the work term first.

b) Provided that there are two (2) or more Company employees on this program work terms will be offered to the most senior employee first.

In the event that there are no Company employees enrolled in the program, or in the alternative that they decline the option to complete their work term at CNS, the Company may recruit one (1) student from the program to participate in the four (4) month work term for that year.

ARTICLE 21

CLOTHING ALLOWANCES

Where required, protective clothing such as smocks, safety hats, coveralls, etc., will be supplied by the Company at no cost to the employee.

The Company will continue to provide protective clothing and equipment as in effect at the date of signing of the Agreement, and in such other circumstances as required.

ARTICLE 22

STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

During the life of this Agreement the Union will not authorize any strike or walkout and the Company will not cause any lochout. Under this clause it will be no violation of the Agreement for employees to refuse to cross a legal picket line of a trade union.

ARTICLE 23

SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any article, section, paragraph, clause, or phrase of this Agreement shall by Provincial, Federal, or other law, or by decision of any court be declared or held illegal, void, or unenforceable, the remaining portions of this Agreement shall continue to be valid and in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 24

LABOUR RELATIONS CHARTER

24.01 Labour Relations Charter

This charter sets out the basis for conducting affairs between the Company and the Union on matters relating to the maintenance of the Collective Agreement.

This charter reflects a shared desire by the parties to:

- a) establish and maintain a problem solving resolution process between the Company and the Union;
- b) establish, within the framework provided by law, an effective working relationship in all areas of the Company in which members of the bargaining unit are employed;
- c) maintain harmonious relations and settled conditions of employment.

24.02 Issues Identification and Resolution – Labour Relations Forum

The Parties recognize the importance of developing and preserving a forum of consultation for the purposes of problem solving resolution which reflects the needs of the Union, its members, and the Company, and which seeks to maintain labour relations stability within the Company.

a) Regular Working Sessions

A regular, on-going, consultative forum will be created and maintained to deal with issues of a nature that are seen to impede the effectiveness of the labour relations environment. This forum will consist of regular meetings between the parties, as required, with scheduled monthly meetings.

The objective of conducting this forum will be to respond to issues raised by either parties' representatives which, left unattended, would adversely affect the relationship between the parties, and/or which would unnecessarily contribute to the time associated with reaching a settlement in formal collective bargaining.

b) Representation

There will be designated representatives from each party assigned to coordinate their respective agenda, and work towards the development of resolutions to issues brought forward. Other participants will be brought in by the parties on an "as needed" basis in relation to the relevance of issues being addressed.

c) Agenda <u>Building</u>

Issues brought forward by the parties may include:

- union membership input, through contact or surveys;
- outstanding grievances and related grievance issues;
- individual member and/or group issues that may not have been grieved or that may not be grievable, but a concern exists;
- issues arising from the Union's Executive Board;
- Joint committee input from Union or management appointees, or mutually agreed issues from both parties;
- Business focused operational issues that may require refinement to previously negotiated provisions, or the development of new provisions.

Issues brought to the table by either party will be discussed on an informal and without prejudice basis, and categorized as being: (i) potentially resolvable within the Labour Relations Forum; (ii) not resolvable within the forum; (iii) referable to collective bargaining; (iv) set aside with reasons back to the initiator. Grievance not resolved by this process may be referred by the Union to arbitration as per Article 3 of the Collective Agreement.

d) Issues Resolution – Mediator Involvement

Issues, other than grievances that the parties consider to be potentially resolvable within the Labour Relations Forum will be addressed as the principal activity. The parties agree that Mr. Don Munroe will serve as a mediator, providing assistance in the resolution of issues requiring such intervention.

e) **Resolution Implementation**

Resolutions to issues that involve changes to the Collective Agreement may be announced and implemented, where mutually agreed, on a tentative basis and will be subject to ratification as part of the next formal collective bargaining. This would include relevant Company policy changes, contract interpretation refinements, and Letters of Understanding.

f) Communications

Communications of outcomes will be jointly coordinated. As well, each party will be free to engage in direct communications with their respective constituents, as appropriate.

24.03 Principles and Guidelines

The foregoing Labour Relations Charter is intended to set out principles and guidelines for the manner in which the Company and Union intend to conduct affairs relating to problem solving resolutions. Nothing in this Charter is intended to abrogate any rights presently held by either party respecting collective bargaining and the administration of the Collective Agreement.

The parties recognize that, in striving to meet the objectives of this Charter, appropriate amendments to it may be required from time to time. It is the intent of the parties that such amendments will be progressive in nature, and designed to improve upon the processes of achieving labour relations stability within the Company.

ARTICLE 25

HEALTH AND SAFETY

25.01 Joint Occupational Health, Safety and Environmental Committee

There shall be established a Joint Occupational Health, Safety and Environmental Committee composed of two (2) employees appointed by the Company and two (2) employees appointed by the Union. The committee shall meet every three (3) months or more often at the request of either party, to review matters pertinent to Occupational Health and Safety, and may consider recommendations from worksite Occupational Health and Safety Committees.

Employee representatives shall be on leave of absence without loss of pay for time spent on the committee.

25.02 Statutory Health and Safety Compliance

The Company and the Union agree to cooperate fully in matters pertaining to the prevention of accidents and occupational disease and in the promotion of the health and safety of all employees.

There shall be full compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations pertaining to occupational health and safety.

25.03 Unsafe Work Conditions

No employee shall be disciplined for refusing work which the employee has reasonable cause to believe is unsafe and where the employee acts in compliance with Sections 3.12 and 3.13 of the Worksafe BC Regulation.

25.04 Investigation of Accidents

- a) Employees who experience a work related injury or illness are required to report the incident to Worksafe BC in accordance with WCB regulations.
- b) Whenever a lost time accident, medical aid, or near miss event occurs, a Union appointed member of the applicable Joint Worksite Occupational Health and Safety Committee and the Manager shall conduct an investigation and report their findings, including the first aid forms, Form 7(a), and incident report to Worksafe BC, within seventy-two(72) hours of the event. The Union representative on the Joint Worksite Occupational Health and Safety Committee will submit copies of the findings to the Union.
- c) The parties agree to provide each other with notice of any appeals they initiate relating to decisions made by the Worksafe BC respecting any employee claim, and the Company will provide the Union with a copy of any notice of appeal received, respecting any employee claim.

25.05 Repetitive Strain Injuries

- a) The parties agree that there is a shared interest in minimizing and/or eliminating musculoskeletal injuries or illnesses that are work related.
- b) Joint Worksite Occupational Health and Safety Committee responsibilities will include incident investigation for reported incidents, recommendation of safe work practices and the performance of regular work site inspections to identify and make recommendations regarding risk factors that may contribute to repetitive strain injuries.
- c) The Company agrees to provide statistical information related to the work performed which may have caused a work related repetitive strain injury.

25.06 Stretch Breaks

Employees whose work requires the continuous usage of Computers will be allowed stretch breaks within the guideline of a five (5) minute break in every one (1) hour of continuous usage.

Scheduled rest breaks as provided for in the Collective Agreement will be considered as satisfying the need for a stretch break in the applicable time period.

25.07 Alternate Placement of Pregnant Employee

Where practical, upon presentation of medical certification that the employee is pregnant, and upon written request from a pregnant employee, the Company will endeavor to place the employee in another non-VDT associated position in accordance with the following:

a) Temporary Lateral Exchange of Employees

This will be a voluntary, mutually agreed upon, action at the employee's request. There will be no expenses paid by the Company. The exchange transfer must be at equal job levels. The exchange transfer must be between employees who are each imminently capable of performing the new job (ie., no more than one (1) week's orientation).

Such exchange transfer shall not be unreasonably denied.

b) Temporary Exchange of Employees

This will be a voluntary, mutually agreed upon, action at the employee's request. There will be no expenses paid by the Company. The exchange transfer must be between employees who are each imminently capable of performing the new job (i.e., no more than one (1) week's orientation). Such exchange transfer shall not be unreasonably denied. Where such placement is to a lower level position the employee's salary will be treated in accordance with Article 11.10 of the Collective Agreement. c) Temporary Vacancy Placement

This will be a voluntary, mutually agreed upon, action at the employee's request. The basis of alternate job placement will be the employee's imminent ability to perform the job in question (ie., no more than one (1) week's orientation). There will be no expenses paid by the Company. Where such placement is to a lower level position the employee's salary will be treated in accordance with Article 11.10 of the Collective Agreement.

d) Alternatively, or in the event reassignment is not deemed practical, the employee will be permitted to commence a leave without pay through to the beginning of <u>their</u> normal period of pregnancy and/or parental leave.

Welfare benefit plans will be governed under the terms and conditions of Article 17.03.

25.08 VDT Safety Standards

The Company will select VDT equipment/hardware, work station layout, lighting, etc. in accordance with Federal, Provincial and Worksafe BC safety standards. The Company relies principally on testing information provided through suppliers and other bonafide independent sources in assessing the quality of any new equipment purchase.

ARTICLE 26

JOB SHARING

(Deleted March 2018)

ARTICLE 27

RESPECTFUL WORKPLACE

The Parties recognize the right of all Employees to work in an environment which promotes respect, is free from all forms of harassment and supports the dignity, selfesteem and productivity of every Employee. Any form of harassment of, or by, Employees, customers, contractors, suppliers or other individuals associated with the Company while engaged in activities pertaining to the workplace will not be tolerated.

27.01 Definitions

- a) Abuse of Authority occurs when an individual uses authority or position with implicit power to undermine or maltreat others and/or to sabotage their work efforts, assignments or employment opportunities. Abuse of authority does not include disciplinary actions and/or other supervisory responsibilities essential to achieving efficiency of daily organizational operations. These duties, however, will be carried out in a businesslike manner.
- b) Complainant: a person who reports harassing behavior or alleges that the employee has been subject to harassment.
- c) Complaint: a written, signed statement which will result in an investigation by representatives of the Company and the Union or, by agreement of the Parties, by third party mediation services.
- d) Personal harassment: any hostile, offensive or obnoxious conduct or comment which serves no legitimate work purpose and has the effect of creating an intimidating, humiliating, hostile or offensive work environment.
- e) Respondent: the individual identified as the alleged harasser.
- f) Sexual harassment: any comment or conduct of a sexual or sexist nature by a person who knows, or ought reasonably to know, that the comment or conduct is unwanted or unwelcome and is likely to cause offence or humiliation to an Employee. It may include, but is not limited to:
 - i. an implied or expressed threat of reprisal for refusal to comply with a sexually oriented request;
 - ii. a demand for sexual favours in return for continued employment, training, promotion or more favourable employment conditions;
 - iii. unwelcome remarks, jokes, innuendos, propositions or taunting about a person's body, attire, gender, sexual orientation or practices;
 - iv. displaying of pornographic or sexist pictures or materials such as cartoons, films, graffiti, pinups, posters, calendars or drawings;
 - v. physical contact such as touching, patting, pinching or brushing up against someone, with an underlying sexual connotation;
 - vi. leering (suggestive persistent staring); or
 - vii. serual assault.

g) Workplace: includes, but is not limited to, the actual work site (i.e. offices), work-related social functions, work-related assignments, conferences, training sessions, travel and other work-related events.

27.02 Reporting, Investigation and Resolution Procedure for Harassment Complaints

The Employer and the Union agree that allegations of harassment should be dealt with in an expeditious manner, and they will encourage their respective representatives to do all they can to ensure that delays in dealing with such allegations are minimized. The process must be fair, consistent, and expeditious.

This procedure is not intended to preclude any other existing recourse that may be available to an Employee (e.g. redress through the Collective Agreement, a Human Rights complaint, criminal charges or civil litigation).

- a) An Employee who feels subject to harassment should make every effort to tell the offending party to stop such behavior, prior to proceeding with a written complaint.
- b) If the problem is not resolved through discussion between the individuals concerned then the Employee, or a Job Steward or Union Representative on behalf of the Employee, may contact the Employee's Manager. All reports of inappropriate conduct will be promptly and thoroughly investigated, and the Employer will act to ensure that any improper conduct ceases immediately and corrective action is taken to prevent a recurrence. Every effort will be made to keep complaints as confidential as possible.
- c) In the event the problem is not resolved under (b) above, or the Employee is not comfortable reporting the matter to <u>their</u> Manager, the Employee or the Union Representative may refer the complaint in writing to the senior Human Resources manager who will determine the appropriate action to be taken. Where the Employee requests the assistance of a mediator, the senior Human Resources manager will consult with the Union Representative, and the request for mediation will not be unreasonably withheld by either Party.
- <u>d</u>) In the event the matter is not resolved under (a), (b) or (c) above the Union may raise a grievance at Stage 3 within ninety (90) calendar days of the event(s) giving rise to the original complaint. Notice of any grievance will be given to the Respondent.
- (d) An arbitrator hearing a grievance under this clause shall have the authority to:
 - i. Uphold or dismiss the grievance;
 - ii. Retain jurisdiction to resolve any matters related to the grievance; and/or
 - iii. Make such further orders as may be necessary to provide a final and binding resolution of the grievance.
- 1 No Employee will suffer adverse employment consequences as a result of making a good faith complaint or taking part in the investigation of a complaint. An Employee who knowingly alleges a false claim against another Employee or individual or engages in any acts of retaliation against Employees for making a report will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

ARTICLE 28

PHASED REITREMENT

This article will permit eligible employees to voluntarily reduce their hours of work in preparation for full retirement from the Company.

28.01 Eligibility

Any employee who has completed at least ten (10) years of continuous service with the Company and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age is eligible to apply for phased in retirement.

28.02 Application

Eligible employees who wish to avail themselves of Phased in Retirement, must submit a letter indicating their desire, to the Manager, Human Resources, not less than six (6) months prior to the desired effective date.

The Human Resources Department will provide the requesting employee with a detailed accounting of the affect of Phased in Retirement on the employee's salary and all company benefits. Upon receipt of this accounting, the employee will have thirty (30) calendar days to either confirm their interest or withdraw their interest in Phased in Retirement and shall be deemed irrevocable.

Should an eligible employee withdraw their interest, they would not be eligible to re-apply for Phased in Retirement for a period of twelve (12) months.

Approval for such request is not automatic, but shall not be unreasonably <u>denied</u>. This denial shall not exceed eighteen (18) months in duration.

28.03 Terms and Conditions

- 1. The length of the Phased in Retirement shall not exceed three (3) years in duration. At the end of which the employse will begin full retirement from the Company.
- 2. Hours of work will be reduced at the rate of 20% per year, to a maximum reduction of 2 full working days per week. Should the eligible employee elect a three (3) year duration the maximum reduction of 40% or 2 full working days could only be applied in the third year.
- 3. Employees participating in Phased in Retirement will receive a salary that is reduced in direct proportion to the reduction in hours of work.
- 4. Employees participating in Phased in Retirement will be entitled to maintain coverage under the Dental Plan, BC Medical Plan and Extended Health Plan, if they choose. The costs of these plans will be shared on a pro-rata basis by both the employee and the Company, in direct proportion to the percentage of hours worked.

- 5. Basic Group Life coverage would be provided on the basis of the actual annual salary earned under the terms of this Article. All voluntary coverages would still be available to the employee, based on the actual annual salary earned, as described above.
- 6. Vacation entitlement will be accrued on a pro-rata basis in direct proportion to the percentage of hours worked.
- 7. Sick leave entitlement will be earned on a pro-rata basis in direct proportion to the percentage of hours worked.
- 8. Employees participating in Phased in Retirement will be paid for all hours worked and will therefore not be eligible to accrue T.O. days. Consequently, the employee's work day will be reduced to 7 ¹/₄ hours per day.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have affixed their signatures this 24 day of July , 2018.

FOR:

Canadian Northern Shield Insurance Company

Jenny Shaw, Leader Coach, HR Consultant

alu

Kelly Krakonchuk, Director PI Underwriting

FOR:

MoveUP (Canadian Office & Professional Employees' Union, Local 378)

Nathan ausolell, Union Representative

Tanta Busch, Executive Councillor

×.,

Comie Grand Job Steward

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Canadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 – September 30, 2021

APPENDIX "A"

Canadian Northern Shield Insurance Company

JOB CLASSIFICATIONS

GROUP 3	Corporate Services Clerk Receptionist
GROUP 5	Claims Customer Service Representative Technical Underwriting Assistant, CI Junior Underwriter, PI
GROUP 7	Immediate Underwriter, PI Commercial Lines Underwriter Claims Representative I (FNOL), Property
GROUP 8	Intermediate Underwriter, CI Claims Examiner, Casualty Claims Representative 2, Property Senior Underwriter, PI
GROUP 9	Quality Assurance Reviewer Claims Road Adjuster Analyst, Infrastructure Support
GROUP 10	Claims Braminer II, Casualty Claims Representative 3, Property Senior Underwriter, CI
GROUP 12	Senior Infrastructure Support Analyst

APPENDIX "B"

Effective October					ļ	
SALARY GROUP		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
1.	BI-WEEKLY	1330.87	1383.31	1437.81	1494.46	1553.34
	MONTHLY	2883.55	2997. 16	3115-25	3237.99	3365.57
	ANNUALLY	34602.54	35965.95	37382.99	38855.86	40386.81
	HOURLY	18.36	19.08	19.83	20.61	21.43
2.	BI-WEEKLY	1437.81	1494.46	1553.34	1614.56	1678.15
	MONTHLY	3115.25	3237.99	3365.57	3498.22	3636.00
	ANNUALLY	37382.99	38855.86	40386.81	41978.63	43631.99
	HOURLY	19.83	20.61	21.43	22.27	23.15
3.	BI-WEEKLY	1553-34	1614.56	1678.15	1744.27	1813.00
	MONTHLY	3365.57	3498.22	3636.00	3779.26	3928.16
	ANNUALLY	40386.81	41978.63	43631.99	45351.11	47137.90
	HOURLY	21.43	22.27	23.15	24.06	25.01
4.	BI-WEEKLY	1678.15	1744.27	1813.00	1884.61	1958.87
	MONTHLY	3636.00	3779.26	3928.16	4083.32	4244.21
	ANNUALLY	43631.99	45351.11	47137.90	48999.89	50930.51
	HOURLY	23.15	24.06	25.01	25.99	27.02
5.	BI-WEEKLY	1813.00	1884.61	1958.87	2036.05	2116.26
	MONTHLY	3928.16	4083.32	4244.21	4411.43	4585.24
	ANNUALLY	47137.90	48999.89	50930.51	52937.19	55022.87
	HOURLY	25.01	25.99	27.02	28.08	29.19
6.	BI-WEEKLY	1958.87	2036.05	2116.26	2202.40	2292.03
	MONTHLY	4244.21	4411.43	4585.24	4771.86	4966.07
	ANNUALLY	50930.51	52937.19	55022.87	57262.27	59592.84
	HOURLY	27.02	28.08	29.19	30.38	31.61
7.	BI-WEEKLY	2116.26	2202.40	2292.03	2382.34	2477.39
•	MONTHLY	4585.24	4771.86	4966.07	5161.73	5367.69
	ANNUALLY	55022.87	57262.27	59592.84	61940.76	64412.24
	HOURLY	29.19	30.38	31.61	32.86	34.17
8.	BI-WEEKLY	2292.03	2382.34	2477-39	2581.14	2682.12
	MONTHLY	4966.07	5161.73	5367.69	5592.46	5811.27
	ANNUALLY	59592.84	61940.76	64412.24	67109.51	69735.23
	HOURLY	31.61	32.86	34.17	35.60	36.99
9.	BI-WEEKLY	2477.39	2581.14	2682.12	2788.07	2902.94
-	MONTHLY	5367.69	5592.46	5811.27	6040.82	6289.70
	ANNUALLY	64412.24	67109.51	69735.23	72489.78	75476.36
	HOURLY	34.17	35.60	36.99	38-46	40.04
10,	BI-WEEKLY	2682.12	2788.07	2902.94	3021.38	3141.63
	MONTHLY	5811.27	6040.82	6289.70	6546.32	6806.86
	ANNUALLY	69735.23	72489.78	75476.36	78555.80	81682.29
	HOURLY	36.99	38.46	40.04	41.67	43.33

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Cenadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 – September 30, 2021

SALARY Effective: October 1						
SALARY GROUP		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
11.	BI-WEEKLY	2902.94	3021.38	3141.63	3270.75	340 3.54
	MONTHLY	6289.70	6546.32	6806.86	7086.62	7374.34
	ANNUALLY	754 76.36	78555.80	81682.29	85039.48	88492.05
	HOURLY	40.04	41.67	43.33	45.11	46.95
12.	BI-WEEKLY	3141.63	3270.75	3403.54	3543-42	3690.48
	MONTHLY	6806.86	7086.62	7374.34	7677-42	7996.04
	ANNUALLY	81682.29	85039.48	88492.05	92129.01	95952.45
	HOURLY	43.33	45.11	46.95	48.87	50.90

SALARY Effective: October 1	-					
SALARY GROUP		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
1.	BI-WEEKLY	1337.52	1390.22	1445.00	1501.93	1561.11
	MONTHLY	2897.96	3012.15	3130.83	3254.18	3382.40
	ANNUALLY	34775.56	36145.78	37569.91	39050.14	40588.75
	HOURLY	18.45	19.18	19.93	20.72	21.53
2.	BI-WEEKLY	1445.00	1501.93	1561.11	1622.64	1686.54
	MONTHLY	3130.83	3254.18	3382.40	3515.71	3654.18
	ANNUALLY	37569.91	39050.14	40588.75	42188.53	43850.15
	HOURLY	19.93	20.72	21.53	22.38	23.26
3.	BI-WEEKLY	1561.11	1622.64	1686.54	1753.00	1822.06
	MONTHLY	3382.40	3515.71	3654.18	3798.16	3947.80
	ANNUALLY	40588.75	42188.53	43850.15	45577.87	47373.59
	HOURLY	21.53	22.38	23.26	24.18	25.13
4.	BI-WEEKLY	1686.54	1753.00	1822.06	1894.03	1968.66
	MONTHLY	3654.18	3798.16	3947.80	4103.74	4265.43
	ANNUALLY	43850.15	45577.87	47373-59	49244.89	51185.17
	HOURLY	23.26	24.18	25.13	26.12	27-15
5.	BI-WEEKLY	1822.06	1894.03	1968.66	2046.23	2126.85
	MONTHLY	3947.80	4103.74	4265.43	4433-49	4608.17
	ANNUALLY	47373.59	49244.89	51185.17	53201.88	55297.99
	HOURLY	25.13	26.12	27.15	28.22	29.34
6.	BI-WEEKLY	1968.66	2046.23	2126.85	2213.41	2303.49
	MONTHLY	4265.43	4433-49	4608.17	4795.72	4990.90
88	ANNUALLY	51185.17	53201.88	55297.99	57548.59	59890.81
	HOURLY	27.15	28.22	29.34	30.53	31.77
7.	BI-WEEKLY	2126.85	2213.41	2303.49	2394.25	2489.78
	MONTHLY	4608.17	4795.72	4990.90	5187.54	5394.53
	ANNUALLY	55297.99	57548.59	59890.81	62250.47	64734.31
	HOURLY	29.34	30.53	31.77	33.02	34.34

SALARY Effectives October	•					
SALARY GROUP		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
8.	BI-WEEKLY	2303.49	2394.25	2489.78	2594.04	2695.54
	MONTHLY	4990.90	5187.54	5394-58	5620.42	5840.33
	ANNUALLY	59890.81	62250.47	64734-31	67445.06	70083.91
	HOURLY	31.77	33.02	34-34	35.78	37.18
9.	BI-WEEKLY	2489.78	2594.04	2695.54	2802.01	2917.45
	MONTHLY	5394-53	5620.42	5840.33	6071.02	6321.15
	ANNUALLY	64734.31	67445.06	70083.91	72852.23	75853.75
	HOURLY	34.34	35.78	37.18	38.65	40.24
10.	BI-WEEKLY	2695.54	2802.01	2917.45	3036.48	3157-34
	MONTHLY	5840.33	6071.02	6321.15	6579.05	6840.89
	ANNUALLY	70083.91	72852.23	75858.75	78948.58	82090.71
	HOURLY	37.18	38.65	40.24	41.88	43.55
11.	BI-WEEKLY	2917.45	3036.48	3157-34	3287.10	3420.56
	MONTHLY	6321.15	6579.05	6840.89	7122.06	7411.21
	ANNUALLY	75853.75	78948.58	82090.71	85464.68	88934.52
	HOURLY	40-24	41.88	43-55	45-34	47.18
12.	BI-WEEKLY	3157-34	3287.10	3420.56	3561.14	3708.93
	MONTHLY	6840.89	7122.06	7411.21	7715.81	8036.02
	ANNUALLY	82090.71	85464.68	88934.52	92589.66	96432.22
	HOURLY	43.55	45-34	47.18	49.12	51.16

SALARY Effectives October SALARY GROUP	-	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
1.	BI-WEEKLY	1357.58	1411.08	1466.67	1524.46	1584.52
	MONTHLY	2941.43	3057.33	3177.79	3302.99	3433.13
	ANNUALLY	35297.20	36687.97	38133.46	39635.90	41197.59
	HOURLY	18.73	19.46	20.23	21.03	21.86
2.	BI-WEEKLY	1466.67	1524.46	1584-52	1646.98	1711.84
	MONTHLY	3177.79	3302.99	3433-13	3568.45	3708.99
	ANNUALLY	38133.46	39635.90	41197-59	42821.36	44507.91
	HOURLY	20.23	21.03	21.86	22.72	23.61
3.	BI-WEEKLY	1584.52	1646.98	1711.84	1779-29	1849.39
	MONTHLY	3433.13	3568.45	3708.99	3855.13	4007.02
	ANNUALLY	41197.59	42821.36	44507.91	46261.54	48084.20
	MOURLY	21.86	22.72	23.61	24.54	25.51
4.	BI-WEERLY	1711.84	1779.29	1849.39	1922-45	1998.19
	MONTHLY	3708.99	3855.13	4007.02	4165-30	4329.41
	ANNUALLY	44507.91	46261.54	48084.20	49983-57	51952.95
	HOURLY	23.61	24.54	25.51	26.52	27.56

Collective Agreement: MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) and Canadian Northern Shield Term: October 1, 2017 – September 30, 2021

SALARY Effective October 2 SALARY GROUP		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
5.	BI-WEEKLY	1849.39	1922.45	1998.19	2076.92	2158.75
	MONTHLY	4007.02	4165.30	4329.41	4499.99	4677-29
	ANNUALLY	48084.20	49983.57	51952.95	53999.91	56127.46
	HOURLY	25.51	26.52	27.56	28.65	29.78
6.	BI-WEEKLY	1998.19	2076.92	2158.75	2246.61	2338.05
	MONTHLY	4329.41	4499.99	4677.29	4867.65	5065.77
	ANNUALLY	51952.95	53999.91	56127.46	58411.82	60789.18
	HOURLY	27.56	28.65	29.78	30.99	32.25
7.	BI-WEEKLY	2158.75	2246.61	2338.05	2430.16	2527.13
	MONTHLY	4677.29	4867.65	5065.77	5265-35	5475.44
	ANNUALLY	56127.46	58411.82	60789.18	63184.23	65705.33
	HOURLY	29.78	30.99	32.25	33.52	34.86
8.	BI-WEEKLY	2338.05	2430.16	2527.13	2632.95	2735-97
	MONTHLY	5065.77	5265.35	5475.44	5704.73	5927.93
	ANNUALLY	60789.18	63184.23	65705.33	68456.74	71135.17
	HOURLY	32.25	33.52	34.86	36.32	37.74
9.	BI-WEEKLY	2527.13	2632.95	2735-97	2844.04	2961.21
	MONTHLY	5475.44	5704.73	5927.93	6162.09	6415.96
	ANNUALLY	65705-33	68456.74	71135.17	73945.02	76991.56
	HOURLY	34.86	36.32	37.74	39.23	40.84
10.	BI-WEEKLY	2735.97	2844.04	2961.21	3082.03	3204.70
	MONTHLY	5927.93	6162.09	6415.96	6677.73	6943.51
	ANNUALLY	71135.17	73945.02	76991.56	80132.81	83322.08
	HOURLY	37.74	39.23	40.84	42.51	44.20
11.	BI-WEEKLY	2961,21	3082.03	3204.70	3336.41	3471.87
	MONTHLY	6415.96	6677.73	6943.51	7228.89	7522.38
	ANNUALLY	76991.56	80132.81	83322.08	86746.66	90268.54
	HOURLY	40.84	42.51	44.20	46.02	47.89
12.	BI-WEEKLY	3204.70	3336.41	3471.87	3614.56	3764.57
	MONTHLY	6943.51	7228.89	7522.38	7831.54	8156.56
	ANNUALLY	83322.08	86746.66	90268.54	93978.51	97878.71
	HOURLY	44.20	46.02	47.89	49.86	51.93

APPENDIX "B"

SALARY S Effective: October 1						
SALARY GROUP		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
1.	BI-WEEKLY	1377.95	1432.24	1488.67	1547.32	1608.29
	MONTHLY	2985.56	3103.19	3225.46	3352.54	3484.63
	ANNUALLY	35826.66	37238.29	38705.47	40230.44	41815.56
	HOURLY	19.01	19.76	20.53	21.34	22.18
2.	BI-WEEKLY	1488.67	1547.32	1608.29	1671.68	1737.52
	MONTHLY	3225.46	3352.54	3484.63	3621.97	3764.63
	ANNUALLY	38705.47	40230.44	41815.56	43463.69	45175-58
	HOURLY	20.53	21.34	22.18	23.06	23.97
3.	BI-WEEKLY	1608.29	1671.68	1737-52	1805.98	1877.13
	MONTHLY	3484.63	3621.97	3764.63	3912.96	4067.12
	ANNUALLY	41815.56	43463.69	45175-53	46955.47	48805.47
	HOURLY	22.18	23.06	23.97	24.91	25.89
4.	BI-WEEKLY	1737-52	1805.98	1877.13	1951.28	2028.16
	MONTHLY	3764.63	3912.96	4067.12	4227.78	4394-35
	ANNUALLY	45175-53	46955.47	48805.47	50733.39	52732.25
	HOURLY	23.97	24.91	25.89	26.91	27.97
5.	BI-WEEKLY	1877.13	1951.28	2028.16	2108.07	2191.13
	MONTHLY	4067.12	4227.78	4394-35	4567.49	4747-45
	ANNUALLY	48805.47	50733.33	52732.25	54809.91	56969.38
	HOURLY	25.89	26.91	27.97	29.08	30.22
6.	BI-WREKLY	2028.16	2108.07	2191.13	2280.31	2373.12
	MONTHLY	4394.35	4567.49	4747-45	4940.67	5141.75
	ANNUALLY	52732.25	54809.91	56969.38	59288.00	61701.02
	HOURLY	27.97	29.08	30.22	31.45	32.73
7.	BI-WEEKLY	2191.13	2280.31	2373.12	2466.62	2565.04
	MONTHLY	4747-45	4940.67	5141.75	5344-33	5557.58
	ANNUALLY	56969.38	59288.00	61701.02	64132.00	66690.91
	HOURLY	30.22	31.45	32.73	34.02	35.38
8.	BI-WEEKLY	2373.12	2466.62	2565.04	2672.45	2777.01
	MONTHLY	5141.75	5344.33	5557-58	5790.30	6016.85
	ANNUALLY	61701.02	64132.00	66690.91	69483.60	72202.20
	HOURLY	32.73	34.02	35.38	36.86	38.30
9.	BI-WEEKLY	2565.04	2672.45	2777.01	2886.70	3005.63
	MONTHLY	5557.58	5790.30	6016.85	6254.52	6512.20
	ANNUALLY	66690.91	69483.60	72202.20	75054.20	78146.44
	HOURLY	35.38	36.86	38.30	39.82	41.46

October 1 SALARY GROUP	,	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
10.	BI-WEEKLY	2777.01	2886.70	3005.63	3128.26	3252.77
	MONTHLY	6016.85	6254.52	6512,20	6777.90	7047.66
	ANNUALLY	72202.20	75054-20	78146.44	81334.81	84571.92
	HOURLY	38.30	39.82	41.46	43.15	44.87
11.	BI-WEEKLY	3005.63	3128.26	3252.77	3386.46	3523.95
	MONTHLY	6512.20	6777.90	7047.66	7337-32	7635.21
	ANNUALLY	78146.44	81334.81	84571.92	88047.86	91622.57
	HOURLY	41.46	43.15	44.87	46.71	48.61
12.	BI-WEEKLY	3252.77	3386.46	3523.95	3668.78	3821.03
	MONTHLY	7047.66	7337.32	7635.21	7949.02	8278.91
	ANNUALLY	84571.92	88047.86	91622.57	95388.19	99346.90
	HOURLY	44.87	46.71	48.61	50.60	52.70

CAREER PROGRESSION

The Company remains committed to the identification and communication of formal career progression paths. The Company will continue to identify and communicate career progression opportunities and will continue to develop and implement approaches to training, education, and on the job experience acquisition in order to enhance employees' knowledge, skills and abilities, so as to assist the Company in dealing with change and growth.

In accordance with the Company's performance management framework, Managers and employees shall engage directly to:

- identify specific career progression opportunities and requirements;
- identify individual goals and timelines for follow-up meetings to measure progress; and
- identify appropriate training and development opportunities to enhance employees' qualification, knowledge, skills and abilities.

WORKLOAD AND BACKLOG

The parties recognize that significant workload and backlog issues may arise for employees during the ensuing period of Company growth and change. It is the intent of this Letter of Understanding to provide an avenue to address such concerns and implement fair and equitable distribution of work. To assist employees and managers in working out the issues that may have an adverse impact on employee morale and Company efficiency the parties agree to the following:

- 1) The Company agrees to make every reasonable effort to ensure that the workload is evenly distributed amongst employees within in the same job classification and location.
- 2) Employees (with their Job Steward if requested) or managers with workload or backlog concerns will first discuss the problems with each other and attempt to resolve them.
- 3) If the problems are still not resolved the parties will review the concerns at the Labour Relations Forum.

RE: REMOTE WORK

Remote Work is defined as "recurring work that is done from the employee's home". The Company and the Union agree to a Remote Work process.

- 1. With the exception of Remote Work performed by Road Adjusters, Remote Work is voluntary and may be terminated with a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice by the Company or employee. Remote Work will only be allowed by mutual agreement of the employee and the Company.
- 2. While performing Remote Work, employees retain all rights and benefits of the Collective Agreement, including Worksafe BC coverage during the hours the employee is working. Salary, benefits, and job responsibilities will not change due to participation in Remote Work.
- 3 Employee selection for Remote Work shall be on a fair and equitable basis, subject to the arrangement being operationally practical and feasible.
- 4. The employee will provide dedicated work space in <u>their</u> home for the purpose of working remotely <u>including a workstation which is fit for purpose. The employee will be</u> expected to have internet connection in their home suitable to perform the tasks identified for Remote Work, the cost of which will be borne by the employee. All IT support for Remote Work will be provided remotely via phone and/or online support mechanisms.
- 5. The Company will provide employees working from home with a laptop computer and telecommunications equipment (which may be built into the computer), necessary to perform the tasks identified for Remote Work. The supplies and equipment required to perform Remote Work will be determined by the Company. Reasonable supplies (e.g. stationary) can be ordered via the Company's normal process with approval from the employee's manager. Employees will be expected to properly handle and house company property. Employees will also be expected to ensure that all long distance costs associated with the Company-provided business line (if applicable) are for Company business purposes only.
- 6. The Company recognizes that current employees holding the position of Road Adjuster at CNS have their monthly internet and some landline charges paid for by the Company, and have been provided with workstations and other supplies paid for by the Company. Therefore, employees holding the role of Road Adjuster prior to January 1, 2018, will retain their Company paid workstations, and their monthly internet costs will continue to be paid by the Company, provided they remain in this position. Where applicable, these employees may be required to transition away from landline usage, to alternate telecommunications methods such as company cellular phones or telecommunications software on their laptops.
- 7. <u>After January 1. 2018, any employees who are hired into, or transition into, a role which</u> is required by the Company to work remotely full-time (e.g. Road Adinsters), will be expected to have internet connection and a workstation in their home suitable to perform the tasks identified for Remote Work. The cost of the workstation and internet services will be borne by the employee. In these cases, the Company will provide a onetime allowance of \$250.00 to the employee to support setup of their home workspace.

This allowance will be time limited (no less than one month), allowing the employee reasonable time to order supplies according to the Company's usual process.

- <u>8.</u> The Parties recognize that the Employees home office is a worksite that is covered by provincial health and safety regulations. The Employer and the Employee have the responsibility to ensure the home office is a safe, secure and ergonomically correct work environment. As part of this responsibility, the employee must ensure that their remote workstation is comfortable, safe, and appropriate for sustained work. From time to time at least one (1) bargaining unit member from the occupational Health and Safety Committee, and/or a manager or other appropriate Company representative, may participate in a visit to the home based office to ensure it meets all safety, health, security and other required operating standards. The Employer will provide the Employee a minimum of one (1) day's notice of an on-site visit that occurs under this paragraph. If the employee, or the Company, deem a worksite to be unsafe, or inappropriate for sustained work, the Remote Work arrangement may be discontinued by the Company.
- 9. Liability for the cost of maintenance or replacement of company property will be the Company's. Further, the employee will not be required to incur additional insurance costs as a result of Remote Work. <u>Any concerns should be discussed between the employee and their manager. It is understood that unexpected insurance costs or other complications of setup may result in a Remote Work arrangement being discontinued by the Company.</u>
- 10. The Manager and employee will mutually set the hours of work subject to operational requirements. However, such hours will not exceed an employee's normal weekly hours. All hours will be paid at the employee's normal straight-time earnings, except where overtime is approved by the employee's manager.
- 11. The home office will be the employee's established worksite but will be considered part of the Employee's established headquarters as defined in Article 19.01.
- 12. Employees who work remotely will manage dependant care and personal responsibilities separately from work, in a way that allows them to successfully meet job responsibilities.
- 13. Employees who work remotely will be required to adhere to the Company Code of Ethics and to data security provisions as outlined by the Company.
- 14. Employees with Remote Work capability may be required to work remotely when operationally required, or in the event of an office closure, or in the event that the office is, or is expected to be, inaccessible (e.g. due to inclement weather). Where possible, the Company will provide advanced notice of a requirement for Remote Work. Employees with Remote Work capability will also be required to test their VPN connection regularly, and must adhere to RSA's Take-Home Lapton policy.
- 15. Any disputes in the application of this Letter of Understanding will first go to the Labour Relations forum for resolution. In the event an agreement is not reached, the matter will be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

Paga 106

EMPLOYMENT OF STUDENT HIRES

The parties agree to promote the hiring of students as part of a general obligation to contribute to the community. To this end the parties agree that:

- 1) Post Secondary students may be hired for a maximum of 120 calendar days during the months of May, June, July & August or 60 calendar days at any other time of the year.
- 2) Such students will not be replacement employees and will be considered temporary employees for all purposes and covered by the collective agreement.
- 3) Employees hired in this category will only do a portion of the job duties in any regular job classification and their respective job group will be determined by the company through the Job Evaluation Plan according to the limited scope of job duties being performed and in an expedited manner. Such expedited evaluations will not be subject to the appeal procedure.
- 4) In the event that the student returns to perform the same job in subsequent years for student employment <u>the employee</u> will receive step 2 of the salary group.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION (INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN)

As part of its Total Rewards program, RSA is proud to offer employees the opportunity to participate in an annual incentive program (the "Incentive Compensation Plan"). The Incentive Compensation Plan is designed to support our high performance culture and to recognize and reward the collective contributions employees make to the financial performance of the business. The Incentive Compensation Plan also promotes and reinforces individual and team accountability and builds upon our pay-for-performance philosophy, whereby an employee's incentive payout is also based on their overall performance rating.

Each employee's overall performance for the year, together with the Company's performance drives bonus eligibility. Bonuses are payable on an annual basis, usually in April. The annual Incentive Compensation Plan measurement year runs from January 1st to December 31st each year.

The Company will openly discuss and disclose all factors contributing to the corporate and individual goals and will support employee involvement in the setting of individual performance measures and standards. The Incentive Compensation Plan is administered at the sole discretion of the Company and may be amended at any time.

For more information concerning the Incentive Compensation Plan, visit the Reward and Recognition page in the People Zone or speak to your Leader.

TIME OFF ARTICLE 12.02

The parties have agreed to apply Article 12.02 (c) such that the unused T.O. days may be carried over from one calendar year to the next. Such carry over is non-cumulative and an employee's total accrual at any time shall not exceed five (5) days. Any day in excess of five (5) must be taken unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.